

INTERAGENCY AUTISM COORDINATING COMMITTEE

2022 SUMMARY OF ADVANCES

in Autism Research







OFFICE OF NATIONAL AUTISM COORDINATION NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH INTERAGENCY AUTISM COORDINATING COMMITTEE

2022 SUMMARY OF ADVANCES

in Autism Research



COVER DESIGN

NIH Medical Arts Branch

COPYRIGHT INFORMATION

All material appearing in this report is in the public domain and may be reproduced or copied. A suggested citation follows.

SUGGESTED CITATION

Interagency Autism Coordinating Committee (IACC). 2022 IACC Summary of Advances in Autism Research. December 2023. Retrieved from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Interagency Autism Coordinating Committee website: https://iacc.hhs.gov/publications/summary-of-advances/2022/.

ABOUT THE IACC

The Interagency Autism Coordinating Committee (IACC) is a federal advisory committee charged with coordinating federal activities concerning autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and providing advice to the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) on issues related to autism. The Committee was established by Congress under the *Children's Health Act of 2000*, reconstituted under the *Combating Autism Act of 2006*, and renewed most recently under the *Autism Collaboration*, *Accountability*, *Research*, *Education*, *and Support* (CARES) *Act of 2019*.

Membership of the Committee includes a wide array of federal agencies involved in autism research and services, as well as public stakeholders, including autistic adults, family members of those on the autism spectrum, advocates, service providers, and researchers, who represent a variety of perspectives. The IACC membership is composed to ensure that the Committee is equipped to address the broad range of issues and challenges experienced by individuals and families in the autism community.

Under past and present authorizing legislation, the IACC was and is currently required to (1) develop and annually update a strategic plan for autism research, (2) develop and annually update a summary of advances in autism research, and (3) monitor federal activities related to autism.

Through these and other activities, the IACC provides guidance to HHS and partners with other federal departments, research and advocacy organizations, and the broader autism community to accelerate research and enhance services with the goal of positively impacting the lives of people on the autism spectrum and their families.

For more information about the IACC, see http://www.iacc.hhs.gov.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTIONV
ARTICLES SELECTED FOR THE 2022 SUMMARY OF ADVANCES
SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS
Clinician Diagnostic Certainty and the Role of the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule in Autism Spectrum Disorder Diagnosis in Young Children4
A Data-Driven Approach in an Unbiased Sample Reveals Equivalent Sex Ratio of Autism Spectrum Disorder-Associated Impairment in Early Childhood
Provider and Caregiver Satisfaction with Telehealth Evaluation of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Young Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic
Effectiveness of Screening in Early Intervention Settings to Improve Diagnosis of Autism and Reduce Health Disparities
BIOLOGY 1C
Broad transcriptomic dysregulation occurs across the cerebral cortex in ASD
Quantifying social skill deficits and strengths profiles in autistic youth
Infant Visual Brain Development and Inherited Genetic Liability in Autism
Mapping the time course of overt emotion dysregulation, self-injurious behavior, and aggression in psychiatrically hospitalized autistic youth: A naturalistic study
Predictors of language regression and its association with subsequent communication development in children with autism 15
GENETIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS
Associations Between Pregnancy-Related Predisposing Factors for Offspring Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Parental Genetic Liability to Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Autism, and Schizophrenia: The Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa)

INTERVENTIONS
Super responders: Predicting language gains from JASPER among limited language children with autism spectrum disorder
SERVICES AND SUPPORTS
Disparities in Early Intervention Program Participation by Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder in a US Metropolitan Area, 2006 to 2016
Mental health screening in pediatric primary care for children with autism
LIFESPAN
Barriers to healthcare and self-reported adverse outcomes for autistic adults: a cross-sectional study
How do autistic people fare in adult life and can we predict it from childhood?
Associations between co-occurring conditions and age of autism diagnosis: Implications for mental health training and adult autism research
Vocational Outcomes in ASD: An Examination of Work Readiness Skills as well as Barriers and Facilitators to Employment Identified by Autistic Adults
Co-occurring conditions and racial-ethnic disparities: Medicaid enrolled adults on the autism spectrum
Medicaid Disruption Among Transition-Age Youth on the Autism Spectrum
INFRASTRUCTURE AND PREVALENCE
Progress and Disparities in Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 2002-2016
CITATIONS LIST-ARTICLES SELECTED FOR THE 2022 SUMMARY OF ADVANCES
FULL LISTING OF NOMINATED ARTICLES
INTERAGENCY AUTISM COORDINATING COMMITTEE MEMBER ROSTER
OFFICE OF NATIONAL AUTISM COORDINATION STAFF LIST

INTRODUCTION

THE 2022 IACC SUMMARY OF ADVANCES IN AUTISM RESEARCH

Each year, the IACC releases a list of scientific advances that represent significant progress in the field of autism research. The *Summary of Advances* provides short, plain language summaries of the top research breakthroughs selected by the IACC from a pool of research articles nominated by the members. The 20 studies selected for 2022 provide new insight into social communication and language, early intervention services, and co-occurring conditions across the lifespan. The advances also include studies that investigated telehealth diagnostic interventions adopted during the COVID-19 pandemic, genetic factors associated in brain development, and updated estimates for the number of children receiving early identification across demographic groups and with or without co-occurring intellectual disability. Articles in the *Summary of Advances* are grouped according to the topics represented by the seven Questions of the *IACC Strategic Plan*. Citations for the articles selected for the *Summary of Advances*, as well as a complete listing of those nominated, are included at the end of the document.

Editorial Note on References to Autism: The IACC supports the use of accessible language around autism in its publications. The terms "person with autism," "person with autism spectrum disorder (ASD)," "autistic person," and "person on the autism spectrum" are used interchangeably throughout this document. Some members of the autism community prefer one term, while others prefer another. The Committee respects the different opinions within the community on the use of this language and does not intend to endorse any particular preference. In addition, the term "autism" is generally used in this document, and "ASD" is used when referring specifically to the DSM-5-TR defined diagnosis.

ARTICLES SELECTED FOR THE 2022 SUMMARY OF ADVANCES

SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS

- Clinician Diagnostic Certainty and the Role of the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule in Autism Spectrum Disorder Diagnosis in Young Children.
- A Data-Driven Approach in an Unbiased Sample Reveals Equivalent Sex Ratio of Autism Spectrum Disorder-Associated Impairment in Early Childhood.
- Provider and Caregiver Satisfaction with Telehealth Evaluation of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Young Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic.
- Effectiveness of Screening in Early Intervention Settings to Improve Diagnosis of Autism and Reduce Health Disparities.

BIOLOGY

- Broad transcriptomic dysregulation occurs across the cerebral cortex in ASD.
- · Quantifying social skill deficits and strengths profiles in autistic youth.
- Infant Visual Brain Development and Inherited Genetic Liability in Autism.
- Mapping the time course of overt emotion dysregulation, self-injurious behavior, and aggression in psychiatrically hospitalized autistic youth: A naturalistic study.
- Predictors of language regression and its association with subsequent communication development in children with autism.

GENETIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

 Associations Between Pregnancy-Related Predisposing Factors for Offspring Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Parental Genetic Liability to Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Autism, and Schizophrenia: The Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa).

INTERVENTIONS

 Super responders: Predicting language gains from JASPER among limited language children with autism spectrum disorder.

SERVICES AND SUPPORTS

- Disparities in Early Intervention Program Participation by Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder in a US Metropolitan Area, 2006 to 2016.
- · Mental health screening in pediatric primary care for children with autism.

- Barriers to healthcare and self-reported adverse outcomes for autistic adults: a cross-sectional study.
- How do autistic people fare in adult life and can we predict it from childhood?
- Associations between co-occurring conditions and age of autism diagnosis: Implications for mental health training and adult autism research.
- Vocational Outcomes in ASD: An Examination of Work Readiness Skills as well as Barriers and Facilitators to Employment Identified by Autistic Adults.
- · Co-occurring conditions and racial-ethnic disparities: Medicaid enrolled adults on the autism spectrum.
- Medicaid Disruption Among Transition-Age Youth on the Autism Spectrum.

INFRASTRUCTURE AND PREVALENCE

 Progress and Disparities in Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 2002-2016.

SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS

SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS

Clinician Diagnostic Certainty and the Role of the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule in Autism Spectrum Disorder Diagnosis in Young Children

Barbaresi W, Cacia J, Friedman S, Fussell J, Hansen R, Hofer J, Roizen N, Stein REK, Vanderbilt D, Sideridis G. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Dec 1;176(12):1233-1241. [PMID: 36251287]

At-a-Glance:

The Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule, Second Edition (ADOS-2) test may not be necessary for clinicians to diagnose autism in most children.

Background: ASD is diagnosed according to traits described in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Fifth Edition) (DSM-5), including challenges in social communication and social behavior and the presence of restricted, repetitive behaviors or interests. Autism can be diagnosed during a clinical evaluation solely using the DSM-5. However, another assessment called the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule, Second Edition (ADOS-2) is also frequently used to diagnose autism in young children. The ADOS is an activity-based assessment of communication skills, social interaction, and imaginative use of materials. ADOS diagnoses are often required to obtain insurance coverage for interventions and services. ADOS assessments take 45-60 minutes and must be done by trained specialists. Limited access to specialists, long waitlists, and high appointment costs can hinder diagnosis and access to support programs, particularly among racial and ethnic minorities, families living in rural areas, and families of lower socioeconomic status. Furthermore, evaluation of the ADOS tool has been limited to research settings. Given limited information on the use of ADOS in clinical settings, the authors of this paper sought to examine the consistency of diagnoses using the ADOS and the DSM-5.

Methods & Findings: Participants in this study included 349 children, ages 18 months to 6 years, who were referred for ASD diagnostic evaluation. Children were evaluated by developmental behavioral pediatricians (DBPs) trained in diagnosing autism. For each child, the DBPs first assessed potential autism according to DSM-5 diagnostic criteria, using all available information (medical and developmental history; direct clinician assessment and physical examination; interaction with the child and family; and information from all available assessments of language, cognitive, and adaptive function). The ADOS was then administered to all participating children, after which the clinician again recorded their diagnostic conclusion (this time incorporating information from the ADOS). The DBPs also self-rated how certain they were about their diagnosis, both before and after administration of the ADOS. The study results revealed 90% agreement between diagnoses made with versus without the ADOS. The most significant predictor of consistency between the two diagnoses was the degree of clinician diagnostic certainty at the time of the first diagnosis (i.e., without the ADOS). The two diagnoses were also more likely to be consistent for children who had more pronounced behavioral or social traits that are common among autistic children.

SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS

Implications: ASD diagnostic assessments that do not include the ADOS are less expensive and less time consuming. The findings from this study suggest that, in most cases, the ADOS is not necessary for DBPs and potentially other highly trained specialist clinicians to diagnose autism. The authors suggest that to streamline assessments and reduce barriers to services access, the ADOS should not be required by insurers, early intervention programs, school intervention programs, or behavioral health providers. However, the ADOS may still be helpful in certain cases, for example, when DBPs or other highly trained clinicians are unsure about a diagnosis or when assessing older children for autism.

A Data-Driven Approach in an Unbiased Sample Reveals Equivalent Sex Ratio of Autism Spectrum Disorder-Associated Impairment in Early Childhood.

Burrows CA, Grzadzinski RL, Donovan K, Stallworthy IC, Rutsohn J, St John T, Marrus N, Parish-Morris J, MacIntyre L, Hampton J, Pandey J, Shen MD, Botteron KN, Estes AM, Dager SR, Hazlett HC, Pruett JR Jr, Schultz RT, Zwaigenbaum L, Truong KN, Piven J, Elison JT; IBIS Network. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2022 Oct 15;92(8):654-662. [*PMID*: 35965107]

At-a-Glance:

Measurement bias may contribute to underdiagnosis or late diagnosis of autism in girls, highlighting the need to improve detection methods for girls and ensure access to interventions based on need, regardless of formal diagnosis.

Background: Tools used to diagnose ASD were largely developed based on how autism presents in boys. ASD is diagnosed in approximately four times as many boys as girls, but it is unclear if this difference is due to biases in diagnostic criteria or true differences in biology. Among children who have a sibling with autism, the ratio of boys to girls with ASD is lower at 3 to 1. In this study, researchers examined children with autistic siblings to assess potential sex-based diagnostic biases.

Methods & Findings: Children with older siblings with ASD were assessed for early indicators of autism using multiple measures at ages 6-9, 12-15, 24, and 36-60 months. Researchers used statistical modeling to correct for sex-based measurement bias and then grouped children based on changes over time in social communication (SC) and restricted and repetitive behaviors (RRB). For both SC and RRB, they identified a group of "higher concern" and a group of "lower concern". In the higher concern group, the ratio of boys to girls was approximately 1 to 1. However, the ratio of boys to girls diagnosed with autism at the 24-month visit was closer to 3 to 1. Among the girls who were in the group of higher concern but did not receive an ASD diagnosis, the researchers noted that many had average or above average language skills but had difficulties conversing and some RRBs. The clinicians conducting the assessments often recommended monitoring girls in this group but were more likely to ascribe behavioral differences to factors such as emotion regulation or shyness instead of autism.

Implications: Findings from this study suggest that sex-based differences in autism diagnoses are likely influenced by differences in social skills and measurement bias. Differences in nonverbal social behavior (such as eye contact) may also be interpreted differently in girls. Using current diagnostic tools, girls who may show autism-related concerns may never meet the threshold for diagnosis. This may contribute to disparities in diagnoses and access to support programs and behavioral health supports. Enhanced focus on subtle RRBs and social differences may help improve detection and diagnosis of autism in girls. This study further demonstrates the need for better assessment tools for use in girls and underscores the importance of ensuring that interventions to improve social interaction and emotion regulation are accessible without the need for a formal ASD diagnosis. SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS

Provider and Caregiver Satisfaction with Telehealth Evaluation of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Young Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic.

Reisinger DL, Hines E, Raches C, Tang Q, James C, Keehn RM. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Dec;52(12):5099-5113. [PMID: 35579789]

At-a-Glance:

Telehealth evaluations for autism diagnoses in young children showed high satisfaction rates among providers and caregivers, indicating their potential to increase access and reduce wait times.

Background: Families may face difficulties accessing diagnostic evaluations for autism in young children for many reasons, including shortages of trained specialists, long wait lists, and limited access in rural and under-resourced areas. The COVID-19 pandemic increased these difficulties but also presented the potential for telehealth to increase access to diagnostic evaluations. Initial studies of remote autism diagnostic evaluations suggested that most providers and caregivers were satisfied with the process, but some healthcare providers and caregivers expressed concerns about technology barriers (e.g., limited broadband internet access), distractions in home environments, and audio/video distortions. However, published data on telehealth diagnostic evaluations differs based on diagnostic outcome, demographics (e.g., child race/ethnicity, household income), and degree of technology issues encountered.

Methods & Findings: Researchers surveyed provider and caregiver satisfaction for autism telehealth diagnostic evaluations of 308 children between the ages of 14 and 78 months who were referred to Riley Hospital for Children in Indianapolis, IN, between May 2020 and June 2021. These parents were offered the telehealth diagnostic evaluation after the hospital canceled in-person evaluations due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Participating providers included seven psychologists and four pediatricians with neurodevelopmental training, who evaluated signs of potential autism using the TELE-ASD-PEDS assessment and adaptive functioning using the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale. Most providers (94%) and caregivers (88%) rated their overall satisfaction as "Satisfied" or "Very satisfied." Caregivers of children with more pronounced traits of autism and lower adaptive functioning were more satisfied with telehealth evaluations compared to caregivers of children with less pronounced traits. Caregiver satisfaction did not differ based on race/ethnicity, age, household income, type of insurance, or travel time saved. Provider and caregiver satisfaction were both higher in cases where children were diagnosed during the evaluation compared to cases where the child was not diagnosed or when the physician was uncertain about the diagnosis. Finally, providers who did not encounter technical difficulties were more satisfied than providers who did.

SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS

Implications: These results suggest that telehealth evaluations are a viable option for diagnosing autism in young children, which can increase access and reduce wait times for diagnostic evaluations. However, providers should account for caregiver preferences for telehealth appointments. One possible approach is an initial telehealth evaluation followed by an in-person assessment in cases when providers are less certain about the diagnosis. Furthermore, these results illustrate the importance of telehealth training, including technical training (e.g., equipment setup), to increase the confidence of providers in telehealth diagnostic evaluations.

Effectiveness of Screening in Early Intervention Settings to Improve Diagnosis of Autism and Reduce Health Disparities.

Sheldrick RC, Carter AS, Eisenhower A, Mackie TI, Cole MB, Hoch N, Brunt S, Pedraza FM. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Mar 1;176(3):262-269. [PMID: 34982099]

At-a-Glance:

Incorporating autism screening into early intervention settings may improve early detection, which is required for access to services and supports.

Background: Research has shown that universal screening in pediatric primary care settings is not sufficient to identify all children with ASD. Furthermore, children who are racial or ethnic minorities, non-English speaking, or from low-income families are less likely to receive a timely ASD diagnosis. However, for children under 3 years old who may be at risk for or experiencing developmental delays, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Part C ensures access to early intervention services in all U.S. states and territories. Early intervention specialists, with their expertise in early childhood and disabilities, may be well equipped to provide ASD screening. This study evaluated whether a screening protocol for ASD implemented in early intervention settings can increase rates of ASD diagnosis.

Methods & Findings: This study utilized a large data set maintained by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health that includes records of all children receiving early intervention services. Data were included from 33,326 children who received services from 12 early intervention sites in low-income neighborhoods. At nine of the sites, children received standard care. At the other three sites, an ASD screening protocol was administered, including parent questionnaires in English or Spanish and an interactive assessment to evaluate children's social and communication behavior. By analyzing administrative records containing children's demographic information, individualized service plans, insurance claims for early intervention services, and ASD diagnoses, researchers compared rates of ASD diagnosis before and after implementation of the ASD screening protocol. They also compared the rates of diagnosis at the three sites using the ASD screening protocol to the rates at standard care sites. Implementation of the ASD screening protocol to the rates at standard care sites. Implementation of the other standard care sites. This increase was larger among children from Spanishspeaking families versus other families and among boys versus girls.

Implications: This study represents the first comprehensive evaluation of ASD screening in early intervention settings. These results demonstrate that incorporating ASD screening into these settings may help improve autism detection and diagnosis early in life, especially among children from Spanish-speaking families. Improving detection will enable more children to receive a diagnosis, which is a prerequisite for many important autism services and supports.

Broad transcriptomic dysregulation occurs across the cerebral cortex in ASD.

Gandal MJ, Haney JR, Wamsley B, Yap CX, Parhami S, Emani PS, Chang N, Chen GT, Hoftman GD, de Alba D, Ramaswami G, Hartl CL, Bhattacharya A, Luo C, Jin T, Wang D, Kawaguchi R, Quintero D, Ou J, Wu YE, Parikshak NN, Swarup V, Belgard TG, Gerstein M, Pasaniuc B, Geschwind DH. *Nature*. 2022 Nov;611(7936):532-539. Epub 2022 Nov 2. [*PMID*: 36323788]

At-a-Glance:

There are significant differences in the gene activity of autistic versus neurotypical brains, particularly in brain regions involved in sensory and language processing.

Background: Previous research indicates that complex interactions among hundreds of genes contribute to autism. In the brain, these genes regulate immune responses, neuronal communication, and the activity (also called the "expression") of other genes. However, exactly how these changes may lead to autism remains unknown, including whether they are confined to one area of the brain or occur throughout. Transcriptomic analysis is a method used to detect changes in the activity of thousands of genes, rather than focusing on specific genes. This method can be used to help identify patterns of gene expression and biological underpinnings of autism by determining where changes in gene activity occur in the brain, even in genes not previously linked to autism.

Methods & Findings: Researchers conducted analyses of gene activity in 725 post-mortem brain samples from 49 autistic people and 54 neurotypical people. These samples examined 11 distinct regions within the cerebral cortex. The cerebral cortex is the part of the brain involved in sensory processing as well as language, memory, emotion, learning, and decision-making. Researchers identified 4,223 genes that were expressed differently in autistic versus neurotypical brains, and these differences were found across the cerebral cortex. The largest number of differences were observed in the brain regions responsible for vision, space perception and hand-eye coordination, and hearing and language processing. Furthermore, while neurotypical brain regions could be distinguished based on differences in gene expression, gene expression in autistic brain regions showed less variation. Of the 11 brain regions compared, this effect was most prominently observed in the regions responsible for vision, language processing and body image, and speech processing and sensation.

Implications: The differences between neurotypical versus autistic brain regions involved in sensory and language processing correspond with the sensory and language processing difficulties commonly experienced by autistic people. The reduced variation between brain regions in autistic individuals also suggests differences in the development and function of these regions, which may contribute to cognitive differences (e.g., problem-solving). These results illustrate the complexity of autism biology and the importance of continued research to better understand how autism genes contribute to variations in brain connectivity and function.

Quantifying social skill deficits and strengths profiles in autistic youth. Gates JA, Gerber AH, Miller CE, Lerner MD. *Child Dev.* 2023 May;94(3):659-673. Epub 2022 Dec 27. [PMID: 36573397]

At-a-Glance:

Autistic youth exhibit considerable social strengths and struggle more with performing social skills than with learning them.

Background: Social difficulties are common for autistic youth. It has been long assumed that autistic children experience these difficulties due to atypical social learning and that interventions are best focused on helping them acquire social skills. However, recent evidence suggests social difficulties may instead arise from autistic children not consistently performing behaviors that they have already learned or due to having fewer social skill strengths, or both. Existing assessment tools have been unable to examine the distribution of individuals' challenges and strengths. However, researchers have developed a new method to disentangle and capture the different kinds of social skills challenges (in acquisition of new skills or performance of skills previously acquired) and social strengths of autistic youth. This method can be used to create a Social Skill Deficits and Strengths Profile (SSDSP) for autistic youth that are descriptive of these nuances.

Methods & Findings: The researchers used the SSDSP to examine social functioning in 150 autistic and 61 nonautistic youth ages 7-17 years. Participants' parents ranked the frequency and importance of 46 social behaviors for their children. The researchers divided the behaviors into one of three categories: acquisition, performance, and strength. Behaviors ranked as "never occurring" (that the child had not been observed doing previously) and "important or critical" were categorized as social *acquisition* challenges. Behaviors ranked as "seldomly occurring" (they had been observed before, but not often or consistently) and "important or critical" were categorized as social *performance* challenges. Behaviors ranked as "almost always occurring" (observed consistently) and "important or critical" were categorized as social skill *strengths*. After categorizing all ranked behaviors, the researchers calculated participants' percentage of behaviors in each category. Autistic youth exhibited significantly more acquisition and performance challenges and fewer social skill strengths than non-autistic youth but more social strengths than expected. Among autistic youth, social performance challenges were three times more common than social acquisition challenges and twice as common as social skill strengths.

Implications: Results from this study indicate that while autistic youth exhibit more challenges acquiring and performing social skills than do non-autistic youth, social performance challenges and social strengths were both more common than social acquisition challenges. This indicates that performance challenges may be a core feature of social function in autism, which has long been thought to be dominated by social acquisition issues. It also highlights the presence and importance of substantial social strengths in this population. This study supports the need for interventions that help autistic youth perform the social skills they already know and nurture and foster their existing social strengths.

Infant Visual Brain Development and Inherited Genetic Liability in Autism.

Girault JB, Donovan K, Hawks Z, Talovic M, Forsen E, Elison JT, Shen MD, Swanson MR, Wolff JJ, Kim SH, Nishino T, Davis S, Snyder AZ, Botteron KN, Estes AM, Dager SR, Hazlett HC, Gerig G, McKinstry R, Pandey J, Schultz RT, St John T, Zwaigenbaum L, Todorov A, Truong Y, Styner M, Pruett JR Jr, Constantino JN, Piven J; IBIS Network. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2022 Aug;179(8):573-585. [*PMID*: 35615814]

At-a-Glance:

Social communication challenges in older autistic siblings are associated with altered brain development in younger siblings who are eventually diagnosed with ASD.

Background: ASD has a genetic component, and younger siblings of individuals with ASD are more likely to develop ASD themselves. This likelihood is increased if the older sibling with ASD shows high levels of social communication challenges. Thus, social communication traits within families may serve as early markers for inherited, autism-associated genetic factors. Neuroimaging studies have shown that autistic children have different patterns of brain development compared to their neurotypical peers. However, the relationships between these brain development patterns and the inherited genetic factors of autism are unclear. This study aimed to investigate the relationship between the level of ASD traits in the older sibling and the brain development of the younger sibling.

Methods & Findings: This study included 384 pairs of siblings (89 pairs where both siblings had ASD) and looked at how the ASD traits in the older sibling were related to brain development in the younger sibling at 6, 12, and 24 months. Researchers analyzed brain scans of participants to identify differences in the size and function of certain regions of the brain. In a subset of sibling pairs, researchers also examined the functional connectivity (how effectively brain regions communicate with one another) of the younger siblings' visual system. Among sibling pairs in which both children were ultimately diagnosed with ASD, greater social communication challenges among the older siblings were associated with increased total brain volume, total brain surface area, and visual system surface area in the younger siblings at multiple timepoints. Greater social communication challenges among the older siblings were also associated with altered structural and functional connectivity in the visual systems of the younger siblings at 6 months. These associations were not observed in the younger siblings who were not eventually diagnosed with ASD.

Implications: This study suggested that brain features observed in the MRI scans in early development are related to the level of ASD traits in the family. The results point to a convergence of structural and functional differences in areas of the brain involved in visual processing, indicating that genetic factors influence the early development of the visual circuitry in ASD. As the visual processing of social stimuli (e.g., eyes, faces) is critical early in life, this may shape infants' experiences of the environment around them and contribute to the development of autism.



Mapping the time course of overt emotion dysregulation, self-injurious behavior, and aggression in psychiatrically hospitalized autistic youth: A naturalistic study. Northrup JB, Goodwin MS, Peura CB, Chen Q, Taylor BJ, Siegel MS, Mazefsky CA. *Autism Res.* 2022 Oct;15(10):1855-1867. [*PMID*: 35751466]

At-a-Glance:

There is a potential link between emotional dysregulation, self-injurious behavior (SIB), and aggressive behavior among autistic youth in psychiatric hospitals, emphasizing the need for mental and behavioral health support programs and interventions that focus on regulating emotions.

Background: Aggression, self-injurious behavior (SIB; e.g., skin picking), and emotional dysregulation (difficulty managing emotions) are more common among autistic people than the general population. However, few studies have examined whether these are related or whether SIB and aggression are more common during times of emotional dysregulation. SIB and aggression are the most common reasons for psychiatric hospitalization among autistic people. Identifying potential links between emotional dysregulation, SIB, and aggression may help improve mental and behavioral health support for people on the autism spectrum.

Methods & Findings: In this study, researchers observed 53 autistic youth admitted to psychiatric hospitals and recorded when individuals displayed emotional dysregulation, SIB, and/or aggressive behavior. This allowed for natural, real-time observation of behavior. Emotional dysregulation was defined as behaviors indicating agitation or clear negative emotion (e.g., crying, yelling, thrashing). SIB and aggressive behaviors were defined as behaviors likely to harm oneself (e.g., hitting self, pulling one's own hair) or others (e.g., hitting or throwing objects). These behaviors varied greatly between participants. In the study, 51 participants displayed emotional dysregulation, 42 displayed SIB, and 39 displayed aggressive behaviors. Emotional dysregulation was observed during 49% of instances of SIB and 36% of instances of aggressive behavior. Emotional dysregulation was more likely to come after SIB and aggressive behaviors than to occur before episodes of these behaviors.

Implications: Emotional dysregulation may play a role in the onset and continuation of SIB and aggressive behaviors in some autistic people. These individuals may benefit from behavioral and mental health support programs and interventions that focus on regulating emotions. For other autistic individuals, the results of this study suggest that some instances of SIB and aggression may not be associated with outward indications of emotional dysregulation. Instead, they may be caused by other things, such as a desire for a specific outcome. Alternatively, it is possible that the person could be experiencing an internal state of emotional dysregulation but not showing observable signs externally. Further research could investigate methods of measuring emotional dysregulation that do not rely on observable signs of distress, such as elevated heart rate. Additionally, given the correlation in the literature between restricted and repetitive behaviors and SIB and aggression, future research could explore the relationships between these behaviors.

Predictors of language regression and its association with subsequent communication development in children with autism.

Pickles A, Wright N, Bedford R, Steiman M, Duku E, Bennett T, Georgiades S, Kerns CM, Mirenda P, Smith IM, Ungar WJ, Vaillancourt T, Waddell C, Zaidman-Zait A, Zwaigenbaum L, Szatmari P, Elsabbagh M; Pathways in ASD Study Team. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2022 Nov;63(11):1243-1251. Epub 2022 Jan 30. [PMID: 35098539]

At-a-Glance:

Autistic children with early word loss exhibit a slight delay in some language skills, but the delay does not worsen over time and overall language development is comparable to autistic children without early word loss.

Background: Not all autistic children have the same patterns of language development, and some may experience language regression (the loss of previously acquired words). However, little is known about what causes language regression. Some studies have associated language regression with delayed speech, but others indicate that children with language regression eventually achieve typical language development milestones. This study examined autistic children over time to assess predictors and long-term outcomes of autistic children who experienced language regression early in life.

Methods & Findings: Researchers analyzed data from 408 children diagnosed with ASD. They evaluated parent interviews collected over multiple timepoints to examine the frequency, age of onset, and other factors associated with language regression. The researchers also examined how children with and without language regression developed expressive communication skills (using words to convey ideas; for example, asking questions) and receptive communication skills (using words to understand ideas; for example, following directions). The data revealed that 22% of children in the study experienced language regression. Children with language regression walked and learned their first words before children without language regression, but both groups began using phrases of multiple words at similar ages. Children with language regression exhibited a 3-month delay in skills related to expressive, but not receptive, communication. This delay remained consistent over time. Sociodemographic factors such as biological sex, maternal education, and family income did not differ for children with and without language regression.

Implications: This study shows that although autistic children with language regression experienced a slight delay in expressive communication, the delay did not increase over time and therefore likely became less consequential as children aged. The overall pattern of communication development was the same between children who did and children who did not experience language regression. This indicates that language regression does not predict worse long-term developmental outcomes for children with autism.

GENETIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

Associations Between Pregnancy-Related Predisposing Factors for Offspring Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Parental Genetic Liability to Attention-Deficit/ Hyperactivity Disorder, Autism, and Schizophrenia: The Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa).

Havdahl A, Wootton RE, Leppert B, Riglin L, Ask H, Tesli M, Bugge Askeland R, Hannigan LJ, Corfield E, Øyen AS, Andreassen OA, Tilling K, Davey Smith G, Thapar A, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Stergiakouli E. JAMA Psychiatry. 2022 Aug 1;79(8):799-810. [PMID: 35793100]

At-a-Glance:

Genes associated with ADHD, autism, and schizophrenia may also affect prenatal factors such as maternal depression and anxiety during pregnancy, highlighting the need to consider genetic factors when studying effects of the prenatal environment on brain development.

Background: Numerous studies have investigated how maternal behavior and health during pregnancy relate to the development of attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), ASD, and schizophrenia, but it remains uncertain whether prenatal exposures directly cause these conditions or if they are influenced by shared genetic factors. One way to explore this is to examine whether mothers with genetic predisposition for ADHD, ASD, or schizophrenia are also more likely to be exposed to pregnancy-related factors that are associated with those conditions, which would imply that prenatal factors alone may not be the sole cause ADHD, ASD, or schizophrenia.

Methods & Findings: This study included genetic, lifestyle, and health data from 14,539 mothers who participated in a Norwegian pregnancy study. Researchers examined the relationship between mothers' genetic predisposition for ADHD, ASD, and schizophrenia and certain factors that were present during pregnancy. Higher likelihood of maternal anxiety or depression during pregnancy was associated with genetic predispositions for schizophrenia, ADHD, and ASD. Genetic predisposition for ASD was not significantly associated with other prenatal factors. However, mothers with genetic predispositions for either ADHD or schizophrenia were more likely to smoke and gained more weight during pregnancy. Mothers with a genetic predisposition for ADHD were also more likely to be younger and more likely not to take supplements during pregnancy, while mothers with a genetic predisposition for schizophrenia were more likely to drink coffee during pregnancy.

Implications: The results of this study suggested that maternal genetic predispositions for ADHD, ASD, and schizophrenia are associated with certain factors such as depression and anxiety during pregnancy. These shared genetic predispositions imply that the prenatal exposures alone likely do not cause these neurodevelopmental conditions. Additional research is needed to understand which exposures during pregnancy may impact children's developmental outcomes, taking into account any shared genetic predisposition of the mother. Studies that fail to consider genetic factors for different conditions may lead researchers to draw false conclusions about the effects of environmental exposures on child brain development.

INTERVENTIONS

INTERVENTIONS

Super responders: Predicting language gains from JASPER among limited language children with autism spectrum disorder.

Panganiban J, Kasari C. Autism Res. 2022 Aug;15(8):1565-1575. [PMID: 35437928]

At-a-Glance:

Behaviors such as use of gesture, fine motor skills, and play can help predict how autistic children will respond to an intervention to improve social communication and language, suggesting a strategy to match interventions to those who will benefit the most.

Background: Early interventions can significantly improve outcomes for autistic children. However, responses to these inventions can vary from one child to another. Predicting how different children may respond to a given type of intervention will allow customization of an intervention plan to a child's unique needs. In this study, researchers analyzed behavioral data from autistic children with limited language (single or no words) to predict which of the children would respond best to a social communication intervention called JASPER (Joint Attention, Symbolic Play, Engagement, and Regulation).

Methods & Findings: Researchers analyzed data previously collected from 99 autistic children across five separate intervention studies. The children were 3 to 5 years old, had limited language, and underwent a two- to six-month JASPER intervention. Before and after the intervention, the children were tested on various behaviors, including expressive language (i.e., the ability to convey one's ideas using words). Using results from the expressive language testing, researchers categorized the children as "super responders" (improvement beyond what would be expected during typical development) or "slow responders" (less improvement than would be expected during typical development). The researchers then used machine learning and statistical methods to develop a prediction model that characterizes each type of responder based on the behaviors assessed. Three specific factors were potential predictors of responder type: use of requesting gestures, diversity in play, and level of fine motor skills. Diversity in play was the strongest predictor, and children who played with a wider variety of toys had an approximately 70% chance of being super responders.

Implications: These findings demonstrate that a child's response to the JASPER intervention may be affected by a combination of the child's unique characteristics. The findings in this study can help match this intervention, or similar interventions, to children who will benefit the most. In addition, future efforts to develop other interventions should consider using similar statistical and machine learning methods to identify which populations of children would most benefit.

SERVICES AND SUPPORTS

SERVICES AND SUPPORTS

Disparities in Early Intervention Program Participation by Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder in a US Metropolitan Area, 2006 to 2016.

Shenouda J, Barrett E, Davidow AL, Sidwell K, Halperin W, Silenzio VMB, Zahorodny W. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Sep 1;176(9):906-914. [PMID: 35849409]

At-a-Glance:

Less than half of the children in New Jersey diagnosed with autism between 2006 and 2016 received early intervention services, and significant socioeconomic and racial/ethnic disparities were observed, underscoring the urgency to address disparities and increase access to early intervention.

Background: Signs of autism may be observable by 18 months, and ASD can be reliably diagnosed by 24 months. Research has shown that earlier receipt of services and supports is associated with better outcomes for children diagnosed with ASD. In the United States, Part C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) guarantees infants and toddlers with developmental delays and disabilities access to Early Intervention Programs (EIPs). This study investigated the extent to which children diagnosed with ASD accessed EIP services between 2006 and 2016 across four New Jersey counties and whether access was influenced by certain sociodemographic factors.

Methods & Findings: Researchers analyzed special education and medical records collected from multiple cohorts of 8-year-old children included in the New Jersey Autism Study, a part of the Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring (ADDM) Network, between 2006 and 2016. A total of 4,050 children with ASD were identified across cohorts, of whom 46.6% received EIP services. Receipt of these services increased from 39.3% in the 2006 cohort to 55.5% in the 2016 cohort and varied based on socioeconomic status, race, level of disability, and age of developmental delay diagnosis. Among White children with autism, 49.1% received EIP services versus 45.2% of Hispanic and 43.3% of Black children with autism. Further, 49.0% and 53.1% of children living in census regions associated with middle and high socioeconomic status, respectively, received early intervention services, versus only 41.7% of children living in low socioeconomic status regions. Among children classified by expert clinicians as having significant disability, 57.3% received early intervention services versus 40.1 to 46.6% of children with less significant disability. Furthermore, statistical modeling showed that children who were diagnosed with a developmental delay before 36 months of age were 2.64 times as likely to receive early intervention services if born in 2008 versus 1998.

Implications: Although the use of early intervention services is on the rise, this study demonstrates that a significant proportion of children with autism still are not receiving these services. Furthermore, race and socioeconomic-based disparities in the receipt of early intervention services persist. Future research should further investigate these disparities to improve early intervention access and outcomes for all children diagnosed with autism.

SERVICES AND SUPPORTS

Mental health screening in pediatric primary care for children with autism.

Stadnick NA, Martinez K, Coleman KJ, Gizzo DP, Lane E, Lee N, Kuelbs CL, Aarons GA, Brookman-Frazee L. Autism. 2022 Jul;26(5):1305-1311. [PMID: 35105226]

At-a-Glance:

Pediatricians can identify early mental health concerns in school-age children with autism through screening during well-child appointments, and opportunities exist to refine screening and linkage efforts across pediatric care settings.

Background: Children with autism experience high rates of co-occurring mental health needs. Many of these conditions require long-term interventions, and earlier detection may lead to better mental health outcomes. As primary points of contact for children's healthcare, pediatricians are well positioned to identify children's mental health needs early and connect them to necessary mental health services. This study evaluated the use and impact of mental health screening in pediatric primary care clinics for children with autism.

Methods & Findings: Researchers analyzed demographic and mental health screening data from 166 children with autism, aged 4 to 16 years, who attended well-child appointments at one of two Southern California healthcare systems. Across both organizations, study patients were 8 to 9 years old on average, predominantly male, and approximately half identified as Hispanic/Latino. Primary care providers screened patients for mental health concerns using the Pediatric Symptom Checklist-17 (PSC-17), a short questionnaire used by providers to identify psychosocial challenges in children. The screening rates at both organizations were similar (53% and 55%, respectively), and the rates at which children were identified as having potential co-occurring mental health concerns was high, ranging from 36 to 47%. Children who screened positive for potential mental health concerns tended to score highest on checklist items measuring attention challenges and challenging behaviors. Following their positive screen, 45 to 57% of these children were referred to mental health services by their primary care provider. Researchers observed no significant demographic differences in screening or referral rates.

Implications: The high rates of positive mental health screening reported in this study align with previous findings indicating high rates of co-occurring mental health needs in children with autism. Furthermore, given that slightly over half of the eligible patients received mental health screening, this study demonstrated the feasibility of mental health screening in pediatric primary care settings. However, because many eligible children were not screened and many who screened positive were not referred to mental health services, future studies should investigate how to increase screening rates and post-screening referrals, including optimal timing of mental health referrals, to improve engagement in needed mental health services.



Barriers to healthcare and self-reported adverse outcomes for autistic adults: a cross-sectional study.

Doherty M, Neilson S, O'Sullivan J, Carravallah L, Johnson M, Cullen W, Shaw SCK. *BMJ Open*. 2022 Feb 22;12(2):e056904. [*PMID*: 35193921]

At-a-Glance:

International survey results indicate several barriers, particularly communicating with providers and sensory challenges in waiting rooms, that may affect autistic adults in scheduling and completing primary care visits, leading to worse health outcomes.

Background: Many autistic adults have poorer health outcomes than their non-autistic peers, including reduced life expectancy, higher likelihood of chronic medical conditions, and higher likelihood of emergency room use and inpatient admission. Although autistic adults may have increased health needs, they often report that these needs are not adequately met. To examine autism-specific healthcare barriers, this international study including respondents from the United Kingdom, Ireland, and North America surveyed autistic adults about the challenges they face in accessing primary care and their associated adverse health outcomes.

Methods & Findings: An autistic-led research team created and administered a 52-item online survey to 507 autistic and 157 non-autistic adults. The survey included questions about specific barriers to accessing healthcare; reasons for delaying or avoiding primary care visits; and difficulties booking, planning, or waiting for primary care visits. The survey also asked about challenges people may encounter during their primary care visits, like difficulties with communication or sensory processing or a lack of available social supports. Lastly, the survey explored the impact of these barriers by asking study participants to report on the health consequences of their experiences. Eighty percent of the autistic adults surveyed reported barriers to visiting a primary care provider, primarily related to communication and sensory processing difficulties, compared to only 37% of the non-autistic adults. Significantly more autistic adults than non-autistic adults struggled with telephone calls to book appointments, delayed or avoided their appointments due to feeling misunderstood by their providers, and had difficulty communicating with their providers and reception staff. In addition, significantly more autistic adults felt uncomfortable in waiting rooms due to noise from other patients, crowding, bright lights, and other sensory challenges. Most adults surveyed reported that online or text-based appointment booking systems would improve their experiences, but autistic adults also reported that they preferred the option to email in advance their reason for consultation, the first or last appointments of the day, and quiet waiting rooms. Autistic adults who encountered difficulties reported that they often went untreated for physical and mental health conditions and were less likely to follow up on referrals to specialists.

Implications: These findings indicate that reducing health disparities may require adapting primary care practices to the unmet needs of autistic adults. For example, autism-friendly practices may employ a personalized approach to healthcare that includes administering staff autism training and providing patients with a healthcare access needs assessment. Offering flexible online booking and taking into consideration the sensory sensitivities of autistic individuals by increasing appointment lengths and making changes to reduce waiting room noise and crowding may improve the experiences of autistic patients.

How do autistic people fare in adult life and can we predict it from childhood? Forbes G, Kent R, Charman T, Baird G, Pickles A, Simonoff E. Autism Res. 2022 Dec 15. [PMID: 36519265]

At-a-Glance:

Factors measured in childhood such as IQ, adaptive functioning, and degree of autistic traits may predict levels of independence, employment and education, and, to a lesser extent, physical health in autistic adults.

Background: Compared to their non-autistic peers, autistic young adults are less likely to live independently and more likely to have anxiety and depression. However, these outcomes vary significantly among autistic people. Identifying factors in childhood (e.g., cognitive function, adaptive behavior skills) that may predict adult outcomes (e.g., employment) can help identify which children will benefit most from interventions and support programs to help them succeed in adulthood. Longitudinal studies, which collect the same data on participants over long periods of time, can best identify these factors. Thus, this group of researchers sought to examine potential childhood factors and adult outcomes from longitudinal study data that followed autistic people from childhood into young adulthood.

Methods & Findings: Researchers examined data from the Special Needs and Autism Project (SNAP), a longitudinal study that follows outcomes among autistic people born between 1990 and 1991 in England. Childhood data from participants were collected between 2001 and 2003 on degree of autistic traits, adaptive functioning, IQ, language development, overall mental health, maternal mental health, and quality of life. Adult outcome data were collected from the same individuals between 2013 and 2015 on close friendships, employment status, education, living situation (e.g., living with family), anxiety, depression, and quality of life. Sixty-eight percent of autistic adults reported close friendships, while only 14% reported very little social interaction. Compared to their non-autistic peers, autistic adults were twice as likely to not be employed or pursuing education, and 29% were employed in supported or sheltered employment programs. Only 5% lived independently from family compared to 54% of their non-autistic peers, and 37% were receiving high levels of support (10+ hours of care, including overnight care). A lower degree of autistic traits and higher IQ during childhood were strongly associated with higher likelihood of living independently as a young adult and somewhat associated with likelihood of employment or education. However, other childhood measures (e.g., language development, maternal mental health, parental education level) did not predict adult outcomes. Once adjusted for childhood IQ and degree of autistic traits, higher childhood adaptive functioning was associated with multiple improved outcomes in adulthood (e.g., higher likelihood of employment and living independently).

Implications: These results suggest that autistic children with lower IQ and higher degree of autistic traits may particularly benefit from support programs and behavioral health support to assist them in becoming independent and pursuing adult employment or education. However, the results also show that commonly used measurements of autistic traits and childhood IQ may not be effective in predicting social or mental health difficulties in adulthood. Instead, adaptive functioning scores may better predict certain adulthood outcomes.



2022

Associations between co-occurring conditions and age of autism diagnosis: Implications for mental health training and adult autism research. Jadav N, Bal VH. Autism Res. 2022 Nov;15(11):2112-2125. [PMID: 36054777]

At-a-Glance:

Autistic people diagnosed as adults are more likely to have co-occurring psychiatric conditions than those diagnosed as children, highlighting the importance of mental health supports for autistic people across the lifespan and the need for further research on how timing of autism diagnosis affects well-being.

Background: Research on autism has traditionally focused mostly on people diagnosed as children, with significantly fewer studies among people diagnosed with autism as an adult. Some studies suggest that people diagnosed with autism in adulthood are more likely to have other psychiatric conditions (e.g., anxiety, depression) than autistic people who were diagnosed in childhood. However, many of these studies had relatively few participants or focus on adults who depend on family or residential care. In contrast, the Simons Powering Autism Research Knowledge (SPARK) database has data from more than 100,000 autistic people, including more than 7,300 independent adults (i.e., without a conservator or guardian) and adults who were diagnosed later in life. Thus, the authors used the SPARK database to examine whether the prevalence of co-occurring psychiatric conditions differs based on age of diagnosis.

Methods & Findings: Researchers examined data from 4,567 adult (age 18 or older) participants in the SPARK database who are legally independent and previously completed medical and background questionnaires. These questionnaires provided data regarding sex at birth, age and types of diagnoses, and demographic data. Slightly more than half (52.5%) of participants were diagnosed with autism in childhood (prior to age 21). Compared to 48.4% of female participants, 58.2% of male participants were diagnosed with autism during childhood. Many participants were also diagnosed with other health conditions, including developmental delays and disorders (30.0%), sleep disorders (31.5%), and at least one psychiatric condition (86.8%). Mood disorders (e.g., depression, bipolar disorder) and anxiety were the most common co-occurring psychiatric conditions. Participants diagnosed with autism during adulthood were more likely to have other psychiatric conditions, particularly anxiety (59.7%) and depression (60.5%).

Implications: These results demonstrate that co-occurring psychiatric conditions are common among all autistic adults, and prevalence varies based on the age of autism diagnosis, suggesting that lifelong outcomes may be impacted by self-understanding and/or the presence or absence of appropriate supports in childhood and adolescence. More research is needed on whether differences in psychiatric conditions based on age of autism diagnosis is due to previous misdiagnoses (e.g., attributing autistic traits to social anxiety) or differences in risk for co-occurring conditions. Furthermore, undiagnosed children may face multiple difficulties during childhood (e.g., bullying, low self-esteem), and not having knowledge of autism as context for these difficulties may put them at greater-than-average risk of depression and anxiety. Given these health differences noted, it may be helpful to include age of autism diagnosis in the description of adult autistic samples for future studies.

Vocational Outcomes in ASD: An Examination of Work Readiness Skills as well as Barriers and Facilitators to Employment Identified by Autistic Adults.

Lee NR, McQuaid GA, Grosman HE, Jayaram S, Wallace GL. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Nov 17:1-14. [PMID: 36394783]

At-a-Glance:

Work readiness skills (e.g., adaptability, success in daily routines) may improve employment outcomes for autistic adults.

Background: Autistic adults are at higher risk of unemployment and underemployment compared to their neurotypical peers. Recent research suggests that difficulties in certain work readiness skills (e.g., teamwork, organization) may be greater barriers to obtaining and retaining employment for autistic people than education or relevant experience. Autistic people may have strengths in some work readiness skills (e.g., persistence) but struggle with other skills (e.g., adaptability). Vocational rehabilitation and career support services can assist autistic adults in improving specific skills, thus helping to reduce employment disparities among autistic adults. Researchers sought to examine whether work readiness skills are associated with employment outcomes among autistic adults.

Methods & Findings: Researchers examined work readiness skills and employment outcomes among 281 autistic adults between the ages of 21 and 39. Participants completed a questionnaire which asked about five sets of relevant skills: (1) adherence to rules and requirements (e.g., meeting deadlines); (2) work style (e.g., adjusting to work environment); (3) ability to work independently; (4) routine daily activities (e.g., hygiene, driving or using public transportation); and (5) interpersonal skills (e.g., asking for help when needed). Participants also answered questions about potential sensory challenges in employment (e.g., discomfort with textures or types of lighting) and answered two qualitative questions exploring reasons for poor employment outcomes. Nearly half (49%) of participants were employed for more than 10 hours a week, while 8% received some form of economic assistance or sheltered employment and 43% were unemployed. Participants who were fully employed had higher scores for work style (e.g., skilled at adapting to change) and routine daily activities (e.g., effectively managing daily tasks) compared to unemployed participants. Responses to qualitative questions regarding work challenges identified three themes: (1) personal difficulties associated with autism (e.g., physical and mental health); (2) difficulties finding and keeping desired and fulfilling jobs; and (3) lack of autism-friendly workplaces and associated burnout. Recommended improvements included education for employers regarding autism, career and job training support for autistic adults, and autism-friendly accommodations (e.g., flexible scheduling).

Implications: These results suggest that workplace skills, particularly daily routines and adapting to workplace demands (including sensory challenges), can present barriers to employment for autistic adults. Vocational programs that address these challenges may improve employment outcomes among autistic people. Solutions to workplace challenges highlight the importance of education and empathy among employers to accommodate the needs of autistic employees rather than putting the onus solely on autistic people.

LIFESPAN

Co-occurring conditions and racial-ethnic disparities: Medicaid enrolled adults on the autism spectrum.

Schott W, Tao S, Shea L. Autism Res. 2022 Jan;15(1):70-85. [PMID: 34854249]

At-a-Glance:

Medicaid data suggest that co-occurring health conditions among autistic adults, which occur more often than in non-autistic peers, differ based on race and ethnicity.

Background: Multiple studies suggest that autistic adults are at higher odds than their non-autistic peers of cooccurring medical and psychiatric conditions (e.g., epilepsy, anxiety), premature death, and poor physical health. Less is known about whether these co-occurring conditions differ based on race and ethnicity. Studies have previously identified racial and ethnic disparities in autism diagnosis and support, including age of diagnosis, access to support services, and quality of care. Medicaid serves as one of the largest insurers for mental health services in the United States and as one of the primary insurers for adults with disabilities, including autistic adults. Thus, analyzing Medicaid records can provide key insights into whether co-occurring conditions in autistic adults differ based on race and ethnicity.

Methods & Findings: Researchers analyzed claims data for adults ages 18-64 from the Medicaid Analytic eXtract (MAX) database for 2008 through 2012. The data included Medicaid claims among 155,617 adults with autism as well as 466,581 non-autistic adults with similar characteristics (e.g., age, prevalence of intellectual disabilities) for comparison. Claims data were analyzed for race, ethnicity, and multiple co-occurring physical and psychiatric conditions. Compared to adults without autism, autistic adults were four times as likely to have obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD), twice as likely to have attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and twice as likely to have anxiety. Autistic adults also had higher odds than non-autistic adults for multiple other health conditions, including Parkinson's disease, endocrine disorders, and epilepsy. The prevalence of co-occurring conditions among autistic adults differed based on race and ethnicity. Compared to White autistic adults, Black autistic adults were more likely to have Schizophrenic disorder, drug abuse/dependence, and hypertension, and were less likely to have OCD, anxiety, cancer, and migraines. Hispanic autistic adults were more likely than their White counterparts to have schizophrenic disorder, obesity, diabetes, liver disease, hypertension, asthma, and autoimmune disorders. Compared to White autistic adults, Asian and Pacific Islander autistic adults were more likely to have gout, diabetes, Down syndrome, and hypertension, and were less likely to have alcohol and drug use/dependence, bipolar disorder, ADHD, and migraines.

Implications: Compared to their White counterparts, autistic adults from other racial and ethnic groups may face different physical and mental health challenges. Many of the racial and ethnic disparities among autistic adults (e.g., hypertension, cardiovascular disease) have also been observed in the general population. Racial and ethnic differences in co-occurring conditions – particularly for psychiatric conditions such as ADHD and anxiety – among autistic adults may be due to biases in diagnoses and access to mental health care. Addressing and reducing these disparities is crucial for improving health equity and providing holistic healthcare and support to autistic adults from all racial and ethnic groups.

LIFESPAN

Medicaid Disruption Among Transition-Age Youth on the Autism Spectrum. Shea L, Tao S, Marcus SC, Mandell D, Epstein AJ. *Med Care Res Rev.* 2022 Aug;79(4):525-534. [*PMID*: 34632834]

At-a-Glance:

Lack of lifelong Medicaid coverage for autistic adults in many states leads to higher rates of coverage loss and lower re-enrollment compared to non-autistic peers with intellectual disabilities.

Background: Medicaid is a crucial source of support for autistic adolescents and young adults as they transition from school-based support programs to adult care and assistance programs. However, while most state Medicaid programs support people with intellectual disabilities throughout their lifespans, fewer states provide lifespan support for people with an autism diagnosis. Autistic young adults without intellectual disabilities may be at particular risk of losing coverage because many states require that autistic adults demonstrate cognitive impairment to be eligible. The loss of Medicaid coverage can hinder access to key supports, such as occupational therapy, speech therapy, and social skills training that can help autistic adults achieve success in adult activities such as postsecondary education and work. Thus, continuous Medicaid coverage of support programs like those for adults with intellectual disabilities could be important for improving economic and employment outcomes among autistic young adults.

Methods & Findings: Researchers examined data from 2008 to 2012 in the Medicaid Analytic eXtract (MAX) database. Researchers analyzed Medicaid enrollment, disenrollment, and re-enrollment rates for people between the ages of 14 and 22 who had at least two outpatient or one inpatient claim associated with an autism or intellectual disability diagnosis. This dataset included 67,520 participants with autism (ASD-only), 120,804 participants with intellectual disabilities (ID-only), and 19,085 participants with both autism and intellectual disabilities (ASD+ID). Unlike their ID-only peers with, ASD-only adolescents and young adults were more likely to be enrolled in Medicaid under "poverty" or "other" categories rather than the "disability" category. From 2008 to 2012, 19.5% of ASD-only young adults disenrolled from Medicaid, compared to 16.0% of ID-only individuals and 8.5% of ASD+ID individuals. Among ASD-only young adult, most disenrollments occurred at age 19, with a second peak at age 21. Re-enrollment rates also differed between ASD-only young adults (34.6%), ID-only young adults (43.7%), and ASD+ID young adults (38.5%). For all three groups, re-enrollments peaked at age 18 and then declined with age.

Implications: These results demonstrate that autistic young adults without intellectual disabilities are at greater risk of losing Medicaid access compared to their peers with intellectual disabilities, with or without autism. Increased disenrollment at age 19 corresponds to when many states begin assessing eligibility (e.g., household income) as an adult rather than based on parental eligibility. Similarly, the second disenrollment peak at age 21 corresponds to when most states terminate the right to support through educational programs. Furthermore, the large number of autistic young adults enrolled in Medicaid under the "poverty" or "other" categories suggests that autism does not qualify as a disability under many state Medicaid programs, particularly in the absence of cognitive impairment. Ensuring that autistic young adults retain coverage may require changes to state Medicaid programs to expand accessibility for autistic people across the spectrum.

INFRASTRUCTURE AND PREVALENCE

INFRASTRUCTURE AND PREVALENCE

Progress and Disparities in Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 2002-2016.

Shaw KA, McArthur D, Hughes MM, Bakian AV, Lee LC, Pettygrove S, Maenner MJ. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2022 Jul;61(7):905-914. [PMID: 34838692]

At-a-Glance:

The number of autistic children identified early increased substantially between 2002 and 2016 in the United States, though racial and ethnic disparities remained; analyses suggest median age should not be used to measure progress.

Background: Many autistic children experience social and communication challenges, and early interventions may improve outcomes for these children. To ensure that all autistic children receive the supports they may need, researchers have sought to understand the reasons for delays and disparities in autism identification. Importantly, the statistical measures used in such research can lead to different interpretations of progress and disparities in early autism detection. This study compared different measures to assess progress in early autism identification over time and by geographic region, race/ethnicity, and presence of co-occurring intellectual disability.

Methods & Findings: Researchers analyzed data collected between 2002 and 2016 for 31,393 8-year-old autistic children in the Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring (ADDM) Network. ADDM Network clinicians reviewed health and education records to determine if a child should be considered to have ASD for the purposes of determining prevalence. Children with a documented ASD diagnosis or special education eligibility were considered "identified" as having autism; "unidentified" autistic children included those whose health and/or education records met criteria for autism but did not have a formal autism diagnosis. Researchers compared median age at identification and cumulative incidence of identified ASD. The median age of autism identification is the age at which 50% of children received an ASD diagnosis or special education eligibility. The cumulative incidence of identified autism is calculated by dividing the number of children identified at or before a given age by the total population, including unidentified children. From 2002 to 2016, the cumulative incidence of children identified with ASD by age 48 months quadrupled. Although children of every race and ethnicity were more likely to be identified over time, Black and Hispanic autistic children without co-occurring intellectual disability were 30% less likely to be identified than were White autistic children without a co-occurring intellectual disability. By contrast, in 2016, Black children with a co-occurring intellectual disability were 50% more likely to be identified with autism than White children with a co-occurring intellectual disability. Both the progress in early identification as well as these striking disparities were masked by the most commonly used measure of early identification, median age of autism identification.

INFRASTRUCTURE AND PREVALENCE

Implications: Significant progress has been made in identifying autism in early childhood, but disparities in early identification by race/ethnicity and co-occurring intellectual disability remain. In particular, race/ethnicity appears to affect the likelihood that children without co-occurring intellectual disability will receive timely diagnoses. Thus, additional research examining these disparities is needed to equitably improve early identification of autism. These findings were not seen using median age of identification, suggesting median age is not useful for measuring public health priorities of progress and disparities in early identification of ASD.

ARTICLES SELECTED FOR THE 2022 SUMMARY OF ADVANCES

SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS

Barbaresi W, Cacia J, Friedman S, Fussell J, Hansen R, Hofer J, Roizen N, Stein REK, Vanderbilt D, Sideridis G. Clinician Diagnostic Certainty and the Role of the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule in Autism Spectrum Disorder Diagnosis in Young Children. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Dec 1;176(12):1233-1241. [PMID: 36251287]

Burrows CA, Grzadzinski RL, Donovan K, Stallworthy IC, Rutsohn J, St John T, Marrus N, Parish-Morris J, MacIntyre L, Hampton J, Pandey J, Shen MD, Botteron KN, Estes AM, Dager SR, Hazlett HC, Pruett JR Jr, Schultz RT, Zwaigenbaum L, Truong KN, Piven J, Elison JT; IBIS Network. A Data-Driven Approach in an Unbiased Sample Reveals Equivalent Sex Ratio of Autism Spectrum Disorder-Associated Impairment in Early Childhood. Biol Psychiatry. 2022 Oct 15;92(8):654-662. [PMID: 35965107]

Reisinger DL, Hines E, Raches C, Tang Q, James C, Keehn RM. **Provider and Caregiver Satisfaction with Telehealth Evaluation of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Young Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic**. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Dec;52(12):5099-5113. [PMID: 35579789]

Sheldrick RC, Carter AS, Eisenhower A, Mackie TI, Cole MB, Hoch N, Brunt S, Pedraza FM. Effectiveness of Screening in Early Intervention Settings to Improve Diagnosis of Autism and Reduce Health Disparities. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Mar 1;176(3):262-269. [PMID: 34982099]

BIOLOGY

Gandal MJ, Haney JR, Wamsley B, Yap CX, Parhami S, Emani PS, Chang N, Chen GT, Hoftman GD, de Alba D, Ramaswami G, Hartl CL, Bhattacharya A, Luo C, Jin T, Wang D, Kawaguchi R, Quintero D, Ou J, Wu YE, Parikshak NN, Swarup V, Belgard TG, Gerstein M, Pasaniuc B, Geschwind DH. **Broad transcriptomic dysregulation occurs across the cerebral cortex in ASD**. *Nature*. 2022 Nov;611(7936):532-539. Epub 2022 Nov 2. [PMID: 36323788]

Gates JA, Gerber AH, Miller CE, Lerner MD. Quantifying social skill deficits and strengths profiles in autistic youth. *Child Dev.* 2023 May;94(3):659-673. Epub 2022 Dec 27. [PMID: 36573397]

Girault JB, Donovan K, Hawks Z, Talovic M, Forsen E, Elison JT, Shen MD, Swanson MR, Wolff JJ, Kim SH, Nishino T, Davis S, Snyder AZ, Botteron KN, Estes AM, Dager SR, Hazlett HC, Gerig G, McKinstry R, Pandey J, Schultz RT, St John T, Zwaigenbaum L, Todorov A, Truong Y, Styner M, Pruett JR Jr, Constantino JN, Piven J; IBIS Network. Infant Visual Brain Development and Inherited Genetic Liability in Autism. Am J Psychiatry. 2022 Aug;179(8): 573-585. [PMID: 35615814] Northrup JB, Goodwin MS, Peura CB, Chen Q, Taylor BJ, Siegel MS, Mazefsky CA. Mapping the time course of overt emotion dysregulation, self-injurious behavior, and aggression in psychiatrically hospitalized autistic youth: A naturalistic study. Autism Res. 2022 Oct;15(10):1855-1867. [PMID: 35751466]

Pickles A, Wright N, Bedford R, Steiman M, Duku E, Bennett T, Georgiades S, Kerns CM, Mirenda P, Smith IM, Ungar WJ, Vaillancourt T, Waddell C, Zaidman-Zait A, Zwaigenbaum L, Szatmari P, Elsabbagh M; Pathways in ASD Study Team. Predictors of language regression and its association with subsequent communication development in children with autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2022 Nov;63(11):1243-1251. Epub 2022 Jan 30. [PMID: 35098539]

GENETIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

Havdahl A, Wootton RE, Leppert B, Riglin L, Ask H, Tesli M, Bugge Askeland R, Hannigan LJ, Corfield E, Øyen AS, Andreassen OA, Tilling K, Davey Smith G, Thapar A, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Stergiakouli E. Associations Between Pregnancy-Related Predisposing Factors for Offspring Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Parental Genetic Liability to Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Autism, and Schizophrenia: The Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). JAMA Psychiatry. 2022 Aug 1;79(8):799-810. [PMID: 35793100]

INTERVENTIONS

Panganiban J, Kasari C. Super responders: Predicting language gains from JASPER among limited language children with autism spectrum disorder. Autism Res. 2022 Aug;15(8):1565-1575. [PMID: 35437928]

SERVICES AND SUPPORTS

Shenouda J, Barrett E, Davidow AL, Sidwell K, Halperin W, Silenzio VMB, Zahorodny W. Disparities in Early Intervention Program Participation by Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder in a US Metropolitan Area, 2006 to 2016. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Sep 1;176(9):906-914. [PMID: 35849409]

Stadnick NA, Martinez K, Coleman KJ, Gizzo DP, Lane E, Lee N, Kuelbs CL, Aarons GA, Brookman-Frazee L. **Mental health screening in pediatric primary care for children with autism**. *Autism*. 2022 Jul;26(5):1305-1311. [PMID: 35105226]

LIFESPAN

Doherty M, Neilson S, O'Sullivan J, Carravallah L, Johnson M, Cullen W, Shaw SCK. Barriers to healthcare and self-reported adverse outcomes for autistic adults: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*. 2022 Feb 22;12(2):e056904. [*PMID*: 35193921]

Forbes G, Kent R, Charman T, Baird G, Pickles A, Simonoff E. How do autistic people fare in adult life and can we predict it from childhood? Autism Res. 2022 Dec 15. [PMID: 36519265]

Jadav N, Bal VH. Associations between co-occurring conditions and age of autism diagnosis: Implications for mental health training and adult autism research. Autism Res. 2022 Nov;15(11):2112-2125. [PMID: 36054777]

Lee NR, McQuaid GA, Grosman HE, Jayaram S, Wallace GL. Vocational Outcomes in ASD: An Examination of Work Readiness Skills as well as Barriers and Facilitators to Employment Identified by Autistic Adults. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Nov 17:1-14. [PMID: 36394783]

Schott W, Tao S, Shea L. Co-occurring conditions and racial-ethnic disparities: Medicaid enrolled adults on the autism spectrum. Autism Res. 2022 Jan;15(1):70-85. [PMID: 34854249]

Shea L, Tao S, Marcus SC, Mandell D, Epstein AJ. Medicaid Disruption Among Transition-Age Youth on the Autism Spectrum. *Med Care Res Rev.* 2022 Aug;79(4):525-534. [PMID: 34632834]

INFRASTRUCTURE AND PREVALENCE

Shaw KA, McArthur D, Hughes MM, Bakian AV, Lee LC, Pettygrove S, Maenner MJ. **Progress and Disparities** in Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 2002-2016. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2022 Jul;61(7):905-914. [PMID: 34838692]

FULL LISTING OF NOMINATED ARTICLES (SELECTED ARTICLES APPEAR *RED)

SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS

*Barbaresi W, Cacia J, Friedman S, Fussell J, Hansen R, Hofer J, Roizen N, Stein REK, Vanderbilt D, Sideridis G. Clinician Diagnostic Certainty and the Role of the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule in Autism Spectrum Disorder Diagnosis in Young Children. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Dec 1;176(12):1233-1241. [PMID: 36251287]

Bodfish JW, Lecavalier L, Harrop C, Dallman A, Kalburgi SN, Hollway J, Faldowski R, Boyd BA. Measuring the Functional Impact of Behavioral Inflexibility in Children with Autism Using the Behavioral Inflexibility Scale: Clinical Interview (BIS-CI). J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Feb;52(2):782-790. [PMID: 33811282]

*Burrows CA, Grzadzinski RL, Donovan K, Stallworthy IC, Rutsohn J, St John T, Marrus N, Parish-Morris J, MacIntyre L, Hampton J, Pandey J, Shen MD, Botteron KN, Estes AM, Dager SR, Hazlett HC, Pruett JR Jr, Schultz RT, Zwaigenbaum L, Truong KN, Piven J, Elison JT; IBIS Network. A Data-Driven Approach in an Unbiased Sample Reveals Equivalent Sex Ratio of Autism Spectrum Disorder-Associated Impairment in Early Childhood. Biol Psychiatry. 2022 Oct 15;92(8):654-662. [PMID: 35965107]

Dursun OB, Turan B, Öğütlü H, Binici NC, Örengül AC, Alataş E, Özdemir RM, Taşlıbeyaz E, Karaman S, Mukaddes NM, on behalf of Turkish Autism Workgroup. A new model for recognition, referral, and follow-up of autism spectrum disorder: A nationwide program. Autism Research. 2022. 15(10), 1961–1970. https://doi.org/10.1002/ aur.2813

*Reisinger DL, Hines E, Raches C, Tang Q, James C, Keehn RM. Provider and Caregiver Satisfaction with Telehealth Evaluation of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Young Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Dec;52(12):5099-5113. [PMID: 35579789]

Rooney T, Stern YS, Hampton LH, Grauzer J, Hobson A, Levin A, Jones MK, Kaat AJ, Roberts MY. Screening for Autism in 2-Year-Old Children: The Application of the Systematic Observation of Red Flags to the Screening Tool for Autism in Toddlers and Young Children. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol.* 2022 Nov 16;31(6):2759-2769. [*PMID*: 36306799]

Schaaf RC, Mailloux Z, Ridgway E, Berruti AS, Dumont RL, Jones EA, Leiby BE, Sancimino C, Yi M, Molholm S. Sensory Phenotypes in Autism: Making a Case for the Inclusion of Sensory Integration Functions. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Sep 27. [PMID: 36167886] *Sheldrick RC, Carter AS, Eisenhower A, Mackie TI, Cole MB, Hoch N, Brunt S, Pedraza FM. Effectiveness of Screening in Early Intervention Settings to Improve Diagnosis of Autism and Reduce Health Disparities. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Mar 1;176(3):262-269. [PMID: 34982099]

Wiggins LD, Tian LH, Rubenstein E, Schieve L, Daniels J, Pazol K, DiGuiseppi C, Barger B, Moody E, Rosenberg S, Bradley C, Hsu M, Robinson Rosenberg C, Christensen D, Crume T, Pandey J, Levy SE. Features that best define the heterogeneity and homogeneity of autism in preschool-age children: A multisite case-control analysis replicated across two independent samples. *Autism Res.* 2022 Mar;15(3):539-550. [*PMID*: 34967132]

BIOLOGY

Ahmed E, Mansour A, Amer A. Screening of gastrointestinal symptoms and celiac disease in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Egypt J Otolaryngol.* 2022; 38, 81. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43163-022-00270-6

Baribeau DA, Vigod SN, Pullenayegum E, Kerns CM, Vaillancourt T, Duku E, Smith IM, Volden J, Zwaigenbaum L, Bennett T, Elsabbagh M, Zaidman-Zait A, Richard AE, Szatmari P. **Developmental cascades between insistence on sameness behaviour and anxiety symptoms in autism spectrum disorder**. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2022 Jul 24. [*PMID*: 35871413]

Bradshaw J, Schwichtenberg AJ, Iverson JM. Capturing the complexity of autism: Applying a developmental cascades framework. *Child Dev Perspect*. 2022 Mar;16(1):18-26. [PMID: 36407945]

Che X, Hornig M, Bresnahan M, Stoltenberg C, Magnus P, Surén P, Mjaaland S, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Susser E, Lipkin WI. Maternal mid-gestational and child cord blood immune signatures are strongly associated with offspring risk of ASD. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2022 Mar;27(3):1527-1541. [*PMID*: 34987169]

*Gandal MJ, Haney JR, Wamsley B, Yap CX, Parhami S, Emani PS, Chang N, Chen GT, Hoftman GD, de Alba D, Ramaswami G, Hartl CL, Bhattacharya A, Luo C, Jin T, Wang D, Kawaguchi R, Quintero D, Ou J, Wu YE, Parikshak NN, Swarup V, Belgard TG, Gerstein M, Pasaniuc B, Geschwind DH. **Broad transcriptomic dysregulation occurs across the cerebral cortex in ASD**. *Nature*. 2022 Nov;611(7936):532-539. Epub 2022 Nov 2. [PMID: 36323788]

*Gates JA, Gerber AH, Miller CE, Lerner MD. Quantifying social skill deficits and strengths profiles in autistic youth. Child Dev. 2023 May;94(3):659-673. Epub 2022 Dec 27. [PMID: 36573397]

*Girault JB, Donovan K, Hawks Z, Talovic M, Forsen E, Elison JT, Shen MD, Swanson MR, Wolff JJ, Kim SH, Nishino T, Davis S, Snyder AZ, Botteron KN, Estes AM, Dager SR, Hazlett HC, Gerig G, McKinstry R, Pandey J, Schultz RT, St John T, Zwaigenbaum L, Todorov A, Truong Y, Styner M, Pruett JR Jr, Constantino JN, Piven J; IBIS Network. **Infant Visual Brain Development and Inherited Genetic Liability in Autism**. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2022 Aug;179(8):573-585. [*PMID*: 35615814]

Hirsch J, Zhang X, Noah JA, Dravida S, Naples A, Tiede M, Wolf JM, McPartland JC. Neural correlates of eye contact and social function in autism spectrum disorder. *PLoS One*. 2022 Nov 9;17(11):e0265798. [*PMID*: 36350848]

Lee JK, Andrews DS, Ozturk A, Solomon M, Rogers S, Amaral DG, Nordahl CW. Altered Development of Amygdala-Connected Brain Regions in Males and Females with Autism. J Neurosci. 2022 Aug 3;42(31):6145-6155. [PMID: 35760533]

Lyons-Warren AM, Wangler MF, Wan YW. Cluster Analysis of Short Sensory Profile Data Reveals Sensory-Based Subgroups in Autism Spectrum Disorder. Int J Mol Sci. 2022 Oct 27;23(21):13030. [PMID: 36361815]

Mayor Torres JM, Clarkson T, Hauschild KM, Luhmann CC, Lerner MD, Riccardi G. Facial Emotions Are Accurately Encoded in the Neural Signal of Those With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Deep Learning Approach. Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging. 2022 Jul;7(7):688-695. [PMID: 33862256]

Niarchou M, Singer EV, Straub P, Malow BA, Davis LK. Investigating the genetic pathways of insomnia in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Res Dev Disabil.* 2022 Sep;128:104299. [PMID: 35820265]

*Northrup JB, Goodwin MS, Peura CB, Chen Q, Taylor BJ, Siegel MS, Mazefsky CA. **Mapping the time course of** overt emotion dysregulation, self-injurious behavior, and aggression in psychiatrically hospitalized autistic youth: A naturalistic study. Autism Res. 2022 Oct;15(10):1855-1867. [PMID: 35751466]

Pecukonis M, Young GS, Brian J, Charman T, Chawarska K, Elsabbagh M, Iverson JM, Jeste S, Landa R, Messinger DS, Schwichtenberg AJ, Webb SJ, Zwaigenbaum L, Tager-Flusberg H. Early predictors of language skills at 3 years of age vary based on diagnostic outcome: A baby siblings research consortium study. Autism Res. 2022 Jul;15(7):1324-1335. [PMID: 35652157]

*Pickles A, Wright N, Bedford R, Steiman M, Duku E, Bennett T, Georgiades S, Kerns CM, Mirenda P, Smith IM, Ungar WJ, Vaillancourt T, Waddell C, Zaidman-Zait A, Zwaigenbaum L, Szatmari P, Elsabbagh M; Pathways in ASD Study Team. Predictors of language regression and its association with subsequent communication development in children with autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2022 Nov;63(11):1243-1251. Epub 2022 Jan 30. [PMID: 35098539]

Safar K, Vandewouw MM, Pang EW, de Villa K, Crosbie J, Schachar R, Iaboni A, Georgiades S, Nicolson R, Kelley E, Ayub M, Lerch JP, Anagnostou E, Taylor MJ. **Shared and Distinct Patterns of Functional Connectivity to Emotional Faces in Autism Spectrum Disorder and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Children**. *Front Psychol*. 2022 Mar 9;13:826527. [*PMID*: 35356352]

Shen MD, Swanson MR, Wolff JJ, Elison JT, Girault JB, Kim SH, Smith RG, Graves MM, Weisenfeld LAH, Flake L, MacIntyre L, Gross JL, Burrows CA, Fonov VS, Collins DL, Evans AC, Gerig G, McKinstry RC, Pandey J, St John T, Zwaigenbaum L, Estes AM, Dager SR, Schultz RT, Styner MA, Botteron KN, Hazlett HC, Piven J; IBIS Network. **Subcortical Brain Development in Autism and Fragile X Syndrome: Evidence for Dynamic, Age- and Disorder-Specific Trajectories in Infancy**. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2022 Aug;179(8):562-572. [*PMID*: 35331012]

Supekar K, de Los Angeles C, Ryali S, Cao K, Ma T, Menon V. Deep learning identifies robust gender differences in functional brain organization and their dissociable links to clinical symptoms in autism. Br J Psychiatry. 2022 Feb 15:1-8. Epub ahead of print. [PMID: 35164888]

Supekar K, Ryali S, Yuan R, Kumar D, de Los Angeles C, Menon V. **Robust, Generalizable, and Interpretable Artificial Intelligence-Derived Brain Fingerprints of Autism and Social Communication Symptom Severity**. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2022 Oct 15;92(8):643-653. Epub 2022 Feb 16. [PMID: 35382930]

Xiao Y, Wen TH, Kupis L, Eyler LT, Goel D, Vaux K, Lombardo MV, Lewis NE, Pierce K, Courchesne E. Neural responses to affective speech, including motherese, map onto clinical and social eye tracking profiles in toddlers with ASD. *Nat Hum Behav.* 2022 Mar;6(3):443-454. [*PMID*: 34980898]

Wiggins LD, Nadler C, Hepburn S, Rosenberg S, Reynolds A, Zubler J. **Toileting Resistance Among Preschool-Age Children with and Without Autism Spectrum Disorder**. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2022 May 1;43(4):216-223. [PMID: 35170572]

GENETIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

Antaki D, Guevara J, Maihofer AX, Klein M, Gujral M, Grove J, Carey CE, Hong O, Arranz MJ, Hervas A, Corsello C, Vaux KK, Muotri AR, Iakoucheva LM, Courchesne E, Pierce K, Gleeson JG, Robinson EB, Nievergelt CM, Sebat J. A phenotypic spectrum of autism is attributable to the combined effects of rare variants, polygenic risk and sex. Nat Genet. 2022 Sep;54(9):1284-1292. [PMID: 35654974]

*Havdahl A, Wootton RE, Leppert B, Riglin L, Ask H, Tesli M, Bugge Askeland R, Hannigan LJ, Corfield E, Øyen AS, Andreassen OA, Tilling K, Davey Smith G, Thapar A, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Stergiakouli E. Associations Between Pregnancy-Related Predisposing Factors for Offspring Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Parental Genetic Liability to Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Autism, and Schizophrenia: The Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). JAMA Psychiatry. 2022 Aug 1;79(8):799-810. [PMID: 35793100]

Hertz-Picciotto I, Korrick SA, Ladd-Acosta C, Karagas MR, Lyall K, Schmidt RJ, Dunlop AL, Croen LA, Dabelea D, Daniels JL, Duarte CS, Fallin MD, Karr CJ, Lester B, Leve LD, Li Y, McGrath M, Ning X, Oken E, Sagiv SK, Sathyanaraya S, Tylavsky F, Volk HE, Wakschlag LS, Zhang M, O'Shea TM, Musci RJ; program collaborators for Environmental influences on Child Health Outcomes (ECHO). Maternal tobacco smoking and offspring autism spectrum disorder or traits in ECHO cohorts. Autism Res. 2022 Mar;15(3):551-569. [PMID: 35199959]

Hessami K, Norooznezhad AH, Monteiro S, Barrozo ER, Abdolmaleki AS, Arian SE, Zargarzadeh N, Shekerdemian LS, Aagaard KM, Shamshirsaz AA. COVID-19 Pandemic and Infant Neurodevelopmental Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2022 Oct 3;5(10):e2238941. [PMID: 36306133]

Lyall K, Ning X, Aschner JL, Avalos LA, Bennett DH, Bilder DA, Bush NR, Carroll KN, Chu SH, Croen LA, Dabelea D, Daniels JL, Duarte C, Elliott AJ, Fallin MD, Ferrara A, Hertz-Picciotto I, Hipwell AE, Jensen ET, Johnson SL, Joseph RM, Karagas M, Kelly RS, Lester BM, Margolis A, McEvoy CT, Messinger D, Neiderhiser JM, O'Connor TG, Oken E, Sathyanarayana S, Schmidt RJ, Sheinkopf SJ, Talge NM, Turi KN, Wright RJ, Zhao Q, Newschaffer C, Volk HE, Ladd-Acosta C, Environmental Influences On Child Health Outcomes OBOPCF. Cardiometabolic Pregnancy Complications in Association With Autism-Related Traits as Measured by the Social Responsiveness Scale in ECHO. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2022 Jul 23;191(8):1407-1419. [*PMID*: 35362025]

Mattheisen M, Grove J, Als TD, Martin J, Voloudakis G, Meier S, Demontis D, Bendl J, Walters R, Carey CE, Rosengren A, Strom NI, Hauberg ME, Zeng B, Hoffman G, Zhang W, Bybjerg-Grauholm J, Bækvad-Hansen M, Agerbo E, Cormand B, Nordentoft M, Werge T, Mors O, Hougaard DM, Buxbaum JD, Faraone SV, Franke B, Dalsgaard S, Mortensen PB, Robinson EB, Roussos P, Neale BM, Daly MJ, Børglum AD. Identification of shared and differentiating genetic architecture for autism spectrum disorder, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and case subgroups. Nat Genet. 2022 Oct;54(10):1470-1478. Epub 2022 Sep 26. [PMID: 36163277] Suarez EA, Bateman BT, Hernández-Díaz S, Straub L, Wisner KL, Gray KJ, Pennell PB, Lester B, McDougle CJ, Zhu Y, Mogun H, Huybrechts KF. Association of Antidepressant Use During Pregnancy With Risk of Neurodevelopmental Disorders in Children. JAMA Intern Med. 2022 Oct 3;182(11):1149-60. [PMID: 36190722]

Schendel D, Munk Laursen T, Albiñana C, Vilhjalmsson B, Ladd-Acosta C, Fallin MD, Benke K, Lee B, Grove J, Kalkbrenner A, Ejlskov L, Hougaard D, Bybjerg-Grauholm J, Baekvad-Hansen M, Børglum AD, Werge T, Nordentoft M, Mortensen PB, Agerbo E. **Evaluating the interrelations between the autism polygenic score and psychiatric family history in risk for autism**. *Autism Res.* 2022 Jan;15(1):171-182. [*PMID*: 34664785]

Trost B, Thiruvahindrapuram B, Chan AJS, Engchuan W, Higginbotham EJ, Howe JL, Loureiro LO, Reuter MS, Roshandel D, Whitney J, Zarrei M, Bookman M, Somerville C, Shaath R, Abdi M, Aliyev E, Patel RV, Nalpathamkalam T, Pellecchia G, Hamdan O, Kaur G, Wang Z, MacDonald JR, Wei J, Sung WWL, Lamoureux S, Hoang N, Selvanayagam T, Deflaux N, Geng M, Ghaffari S, Bates J, Young EJ, Ding Q, Shum C, D'Abate L, Bradley CA, Rutherford A, Aguda V, Apresto B, Chen N, Desai S, Du X, Fong MLY, Pullenayegum S, Samler K, Wang T, Ho K, Paton T, Pereira SL, Herbrick JA, Wintle RF, Fuerth J, Noppornpitak J, Ward H, Magee P, Al Baz A, Kajendirarajah U, Kapadia S, Vlasblom J, Valluri M, Green J, Seifer V, Quirbach M, Rennie O, Kelley E, Masjedi N, Lord C, Szego MJ, Zawati MH, Lang M, Strug LJ, Marshall CR, Costain G, Calli K, Iaboni A, Yusuf A, Ambrozewicz P, Gallagher L, Amaral DG, Brian J, Elsabbagh M, Georgiades S, Messinger DS, Ozonoff S, Sebat J, Sjaarda C, Smith IM, Szatmari P, Zwaigenbaum L, Kushki A, Frazier TW, Vorstman JAS, Fakhro KA, Fernandez BA, Lewis MES, Weksberg R, Fiume M, Yuen RKC, Anagnostou E, Sondheimer N, Glazer D, Hartley DM, Scherer SW. **Genomic architecture of autism from comprehensive whole-genome sequence annotation**. *Cell*. 2022 Nov 10;185(23):4409-4427.e18. [PMID: 36368308]

Wang Y, Guo X, Hong X, Wang G, Pearson C, Zuckerman B, Clark AG, O'Brien KO, Wang X, Gu Z. Association of mitochondrial DNA content, heteroplasmies and inter-generational transmission with autism. *Nat Commun.* 2022 Jul 1;13(1):3790. [*PMID*: 35778412]

Warrier V, Zhang X, Reed P, Havdahl A, Moore TM, Cliquet F, Leblond CS, Rolland T, Rosengren A; EU-AIMS LEAP; iPSYCH-Autism Working Group; Spectrum 10K and APEX Consortia; Rowitch DH, Hurles ME, Geschwind DH, Børglum AD, Robinson EB, Grove J, Martin HC, Bourgeron T, Baron-Cohen S. **Genetic correlates of phenotypic heterogeneity in autism**. *Nat Genet*. 2022 Sep;54(9):1293-1304. [*PMID*: 35654973]

Wigdor EM, Weiner DJ, Grove J, Fu JM, Thompson WK, Carey CE, Baya N, van der Merwe C, Walters RK, Satterstrom FK, Palmer DS, Rosengren A, Bybjerg-Grauholm J, Hougaard DM, Mortensen PB, Daly MJ, Talkowski ME, Sanders SJ, Bishop SL, Børglum AD, Robinson EB. **The female protective effect against autism spectrum disorder**. *Cell Genomics*. 2022; Volume 2, Issue 6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2022.100134

Zhou X, Feliciano P, Shu C, Wang T, Astrovskaya I, Hall JB, Obiajulu JU, Wright JR, Murali SC, Xu SX, Brueggeman L, Thomas TR, Marchenko O, Fleisch C, Barns SD, Snyder LG, Han B, Chang TS, Turner TN, Harvey WT, Nishida A, O'Roak BJ, Geschwind DH; SPARK Consortium; Michaelson JJ, Volfovsky N, Eichler EE, Shen Y, Chung WK. Integrating de novo and inherited variants in 42,607 autism cases identifies mutations in new moderate-risk genes. Nat Genet. 2022 Sep;54(9):1305-1319. [PMID: 35982159]

INTERVENTIONS

Benevides TW, Tao S, Becker A, Verstreate K, Shea L. Occupational Therapy Service Delivery Among Medicaid-Enrolled Children and Adults on the Autism Spectrum and With Other Intellectual Disabilities. Am J Occup Ther. 2022 Jan 1;76(1):7601180100. [PMID: 35030249]

Brian J, Solish A, Dowds E, Roth I, Bernardi K, Perry K, Daoud S, Jilderda S, MacWilliam S, Smith IM, Zwaigenbaum L, Bryson S. "Going Mobile"-increasing the reach of parent-mediated intervention for toddlers with ASD via group-based and virtual delivery. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Dec;52(12):5207-5220. [PMID: 35608785]

Hume K, Odom SL, Steinbrenner JR, Smith DaWalt L, Hall LJ, Kraemer B, Tomaszewski B, Brum C, Szidon K, Bolt DM. Efficacy of a School-Based Comprehensive Intervention Program for Adolescents With Autism. *Exceptional Children*. 2022. 88(2), 223-240. https://doi.org/10.1177/00144029211062589

Li C, Haegele JA, Sun F, Alves MLT, Ang SHC, Lee J, Ng K, Dos Santos Alves I, Healy S, Huang WY, Rintala P, Tan JSY, Wu Y, Yang H, Kärnä E, Maeng H, Schliemann AL, Ding D. **Meeting the 24-h movement guidelines and health-related outcomes among youth with autism spectrum disorder: a seven-country observational study**. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*. 2022 Jun 23;16(1):50. [*PMID*: 35739543]

*Panganiban J, Kasari C. Super responders: Predicting language gains from JASPER among limited language children with autism spectrum disorder. Autism Res. 2022 Aug;15(8):1565-1575. [PMID: 35437928]

Shurtz L, Schwartz C, DiStefano C, McPartland JC, Levin AR, Dawson G, Kleinhans NM, Faja S, Webb SJ, Shic F, Naples AJ, Seow H, Bernier RA, Chawarska K, Sugar CA, Dziura J, Senturk D, Santhosh M, Jeste SS. **Concomitant medication use in children with autism spectrum disorder: Data from the Autism Biomarkers Consortium for Clinical Trials**. *Autism*. 2022 Sep 9:13623613221121425. [PMID: 36086805]

Steinbrenner JR, McIntyre N, Rentschler LF, Pearson JN, Luelmo P, Jaramillo ME, Boyd BA, Wong C, Nowell SW, Odom SL, Hume KA. Patterns in reporting and participant inclusion related to race and ethnicity in autism intervention literature: Data from a large-scale systematic review of evidence-based practices. *Autism*. 2022 Nov;26(8):2026-2040. [*PMID*: 35068190]

SERVICES AND SUPPORTS

Davies J, Heasman B, Livesey A, Walker A, Pellicano E, Remington A. Autistic adults' views and experiences of requesting and receiving workplace adjustments in the UK. *PLoS One*. 2022 Aug 5;17(8):e0272420. [*PMID*: 35930548]

Eapen V, Islam R, Azim SI, Masi A, Klein L, Karlov L. Factors Impacting Parental Quality of Life in Preschool Children on the Autism Spectrum. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Dec 20. [PMID: 36538128]

Kaiser K, Villalobos ME, Locke J, Iruka IU, Proctor C, Boyd B. A culturally grounded autism parent training program with Black parents. Autism. 2022 Apr;26(3):716-726. [PMID: 35232271]

Lerner MD, Brown CE, Sridhar A, Tschida JE, Felsman P, Libsack EJ, Kerns CM, Moskowitz LJ, Soorya L, Wainer A, Cohn E, Drahota A. Usual care for youth with autism spectrum disorder: Community-based providers' reported familiarity with treatment practices. Front Psychiatry. 2022 Jul 26;13:923025. [PMID: 35958649]

*Shenouda J, Barrett E, Davidow AL, Sidwell K, Halperin W, Silenzio VMB, Zahorodny W. Disparities in Early Intervention Program Participation by Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder in a US Metropolitan Area, 2006 to 2016. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Sep 1;176(9):906-914. [PMID: 35849409]

Sridhar A, Kuhn J, Faja S, Sabatos-DeVito M, Nikolaeva JI, Dawson G, Nelson CA, Webb SJ, Bernier R, Jeste S, Chawarska K, Sugar CA, Shic F, Naples A, Dziura J, McPartland JC; ABC-CT Consortium. **Patterns of Intervention Utilization Among School-Aged Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder: Findings from a Multi-Site Research Consortium**. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. 2022 Jun;94:101950. [PMID: 35444715]

*Stadnick NA, Martinez K, Coleman KJ, Gizzo DP, Lane E, Lee N, Kuelbs CL, Aarons GA, Brookman-Frazee L. **Mental health screening in pediatric primary care for children with autism**. Autism. 2022 Jul;26(5):1305-1311. [PMID: 35105226]

Stockham NT, Paskov KM, Tabatabaei K, Sutaria S, Liu B, Kent J, Wall DP. **An Informatics Analysis to Identify Sex Disparities and Healthcare Needs for Autism across the United States**. AMIA Annu Symp Proc. 2022 May 23;2022:456-465. [PMID: 35854759]

Yousefvand S, Dadgar H, Mohammadi MR, Maroufizadeh S, Yousefvand S. **Broader Autism Phenotype and Communication Skills in Parents of Children with Autism**. *jmr*. 2022;16(4):338-346. *https://doi.org/10.18502/jmr.v16i4.10761*

LIFESPAN

Al-Beltagi M, Saeed NK, Bediwy AS, Alhawamdeh R, Qaraghuli S. Effects of COVID-19 on children with autism. *World J Virol.* 2022 Nov 25;11(6):411-425. [*PMID*: 36483100]

Bury SM, Jellett R, Haschek A, Wenzel M, Hedley D, Spoor JR. Understanding language preference: Autism knowledge, experience of stigma and autism identity. *Autism*. 2022 Dec 13:13623613221142383. [PMID: 36510834]

Cope R, Remington A. The Strengths and Abilities of Autistic People in the Workplace. Autism Adulthood. 2022 Mar 1;4(1):22-31. [PMID: 36605563]

*Doherty M, Neilson S, O'Sullivan J, Carravallah L, Johnson M, Cullen W, Shaw SCK. Barriers to healthcare and self-reported adverse outcomes for autistic adults: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2022 Feb 22;12(2):e056904. [PMID: 35193921]

*Forbes G, Kent R, Charman T, Baird G, Pickles A, Simonoff E. How do autistic people fare in adult life and can we predict it from childhood? Autism Res. 2022 Dec 15. [PMID: 36519265]

Friedman C. Moving home: Community transition supports for people with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Disabil Health J.* 2022 Nov 26:101419. [PMID: 36528523]

Goldfarb Y, Gal E, Golan O. Implications of Employment Changes Caused by COVID-19 on Mental Health and Work-Related Psychological Need Satisfaction of Autistic Employees: A Mixed-Methods Longitudinal Study. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Jan;52(1):89-102. [PMID: 33635422]

Groenman AP, Torenvliet C, Radhoe TA, Agelink van Rentergem JA, Geurts HM. Menstruation and menopause in autistic adults: Periods of importance? Autism. 2022 Aug;26(6):1563-1572. [PMID: 34825585]

Harmens M, Sedgewick F, Hobson H. Autistic women's diagnostic experiences: Interactions with identity and impacts on well-being. *Womens Health (Lond)*. 2022 Jan-Dec;18:17455057221137477. [PMID: 36377396]

Hendriks O, Wei Y, Warrier V, Richards G. Autistic Traits, Empathizing-Systemizing, and Gender Diversity. Arch Sex Behav. 2022 May;51(4):2077-2089. [PMID: 35467170]

Huang Y, Hwang YIJ, Arnold SRC, Lawson LP, Richdale AL, Trollor JN. Autistic Adults' Experiences of Diagnosis Disclosure. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Dec;52(12):5301-5307. [PMID: 34978025]

*Jadav N, Bal VH. Associations between co-occurring conditions and age of autism diagnosis: Implications for mental health training and adult autism research. Autism Res. 2022 Nov;15(11):2112-2125. [PMID: 36054777]

Kim SA, Baczewski L, Pizzano M, Kasari C, Sturm A. Discrimination and Harassment Experiences of Autistic College Students and Their Neurotypical Peers: Risk and Protective Factors. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Sep 14. [PMID: 36103077]

*Lee NR, McQuaid GA, Grosman HE, Jayaram S, Wallace GL. Vocational Outcomes in ASD: An Examination of Work Readiness Skills as well as Barriers and Facilitators to Employment Identified by Autistic Adults. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Nov 17:1-14. [PMID: 36394783]

Martin V, Flanagan TD, Vogus TJ, Chênevert D. Sustainable employment depends on quality relationships between supervisors and their employees on the autism spectrum. *Disabil Rehabil*. 2022 May 16:1-12. [PMID: 35576174]

Martini MI, Kuja-Halkola R, Butwicka A, Du Rietz E, D'Onofrio BM, Happé F, Kanina A, Larsson H, Lundström S, Martin J, Rosenqvist MA, Lichtenstein P, Taylor MJ. Sex Differences in Mental Health Problems and Psychiatric Hospitalization in Autistic Young Adults. JAMA Psychiatry. 2022 Dec 1;79(12):1188-1198. [PMID: 36287538]

Must A, Eliasziw M, Bowling A, Magaña S, Stanish H, Bandini L, Curtin C, Kral TVE. **Relationship between Childhood Obesity and Autism Spectrum Disorder Varies by Child's Age and Parents' Weight Status in a Sample of Sibling Dyads**. *Child Obes*. 2023 Jul;19(5):309-315. Epub 2022 Aug 22. [PMID: 35994016]

Petty S, Tunstall L, Richardson H, Eccles N. Workplace Adjustments for Autistic Employees: What is 'Reasonable'? J Autism Dev Disord. 2023 Jan;53(1):236-244. Epub 2022 Jan 12. [PMID: 35020116]

Rothman EF, Graham Holmes L, Caplan R, Chiang M, Haberer B, Gallop N, Kadel R, Person M, Sanchez A, Quinn E, Wharmby P. Healthy Relationships on the Autism Spectrum (HEARTS): A feasibility test of an online class co-designed and co-taught with autistic people. Autism. 2022 Apr;26(3):690-702. [PMID: 35000417]

*Schott W, Tao S, Shea L. **Co-occurring conditions and racial-ethnic disparities: Medicaid enrolled adults on the autism spectrum**. *Autism Res.* 2022 Jan;15(1):70-85. [*PMID*: 34854249]

*Shea L, Tao S, Marcus SC, Mandell D, Epstein AJ. **Medicaid Disruption Among Transition-Age Youth on the Autism Spectrum**. *Med Care Res Rev*. 2022 Aug;79(4):525-534. [*PMID*: 34632834] Stratton E, Glozier N, Woolard A, Gibbs V, Demetriou EA, Boulton KA, Hickie I, Pellicano E, Guastella AJ. Understanding the vocational functioning of autistic employees: the role of disability and mental health. Disabil Rehabil. 2023 May;45(9):1508-1516. Epub 2022 May 4. [PMID: 35508414]

Taylor SC, Gehringer BN, Dow HC, Langer A, Rawot E, Smernoff Z, Steeman S, Almasy L, Rader DJ, Bučan M, Brodkin ES. Contrasting Views of Autism Spectrum Traits in Adults, Especially in Self-Reports vs. Informant-Reports for Women High in Autism Spectrum Traits. J Autism Dev Disord. 2022 Dec 9:1-13. [PMID: 36484966]

Whelpley CE, May CP. Seeing is Disliking: Evidence of Bias Against Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder in Traditional Job Interviews. J Autism Dev Disord. 2023 Apr;53(4):1363-1374. Epub 2022 Mar 16. [PMID: 35294714]

INFRASTRUCTURE AND PREVALENCE

Catalá-López F, Hutton B, Page MJ, Driver JA, Ridao M, Alonso-Arroyo A, Valencia A, Macías Saint-Gerons D, Tabarés-Seisdedos R. Mortality in Persons With Autism Spectrum Disorder or Attention-Deficit/ Hyperactivity Disorder: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr. 2022 Apr 1;176(4):e216401. [PMID: 35157020]

D'Mello AM, Frosch IR, Li CE, Cardinaux AL, Gabrieli JDE. Exclusion of females in autism research: Empirical evidence for a "leaky" recruitment-to-research pipeline. *Autism Res.* 2022 Oct;15(10):1929-1940. [PMID: 36054081]

Etyemez S, Esler A, Kini A, Tsai PC, DiRienzo M, Maenner M, Lee LC. The role of intellectual disability with autism spectrum disorder and the documented cooccurring conditions: A population-based study. Autism Res. 2022 Dec;15(12):2399-2408. [PMID: 36245337]

Heyl J, Hardy F, Tucker K, Hopper A, Marchã MJ, Liew A, Reep J, Harwood KA, Roberts L, Yates J, Day J, Wheeler A, Eve-Jones S, Briggs TWR, Gray WK. Data quality and autism: Issues and potential impacts. Int J Med Inform. 2022 Nov 28;170:104938. [PMID: 36455477]

*Shaw KA, McArthur D, Hughes MM, Bakian AV, Lee LC, Pettygrove S, Maenner MJ. Progress and Disparities in Early Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 2002-2016. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2022 Jul;61(7):905-914. [PMID: 34838692]

Varcin KJ, Herniman SE, Lin A, Chen Y, Perry Y, Pugh C, Chisholm K, Whitehouse AJO, Wood SJ. Occurrence of psychosis and bipolar disorder in adults with autism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2022 Mar;134:104543. [PMID: 35063494]

Zubler JM, Wiggins LD, Macias MM, Whitaker TM, Shaw JS, Squires JK, Pajek JA, Wolf RB, Slaughter KS, Broughton AS, Gerndt KL, Mlodoch BJ, Lipkin PH. Evidence-Informed Milestones for Developmental Surveillance Tools. *Pediatrics*. 2022 Mar 1;149(3):e2021052138. [*PMID*: 35132439]



INTERAGENCY AUTISM COORDINATING COMMITTEE MEMBER ROSTER

CHAIR

Joshua Gordon, M.D., Ph.D. Director National Institute of Mental Health National Institutes of Health Bethesda, MD

FEDERAL MEMBERS

Skye Bass, L.C.S.W. Program Coordinator TeleBehavioral Health Center of Excellence Division of Behavioral Health Indian Health Service Rockville, MD

Diana W. Bianchi, M.D. Director Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development National Institutes of Health Bethesda, MD

Amanda B. Bryans, M.S. (alternate) Director Research Analysis and Communication Office of Head Start Administration for Children and Families Washington, DC

Anita Everett, M.D., D.F.A.P.A. Director Center for Mental Health Services Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration Rockville, MD Tiffany R. Farchione, M.D. Director Division of Psychiatry Center for Drug Evaluation and Research U.S. Food and Drug Administration Silver Spring, MD

Maria Fryer, M.S. Program Analyst Bureau of Justice Assistance U.S. Department of Justice Washington, DC

Elaine Cohen Hubal, Ph.D. Senior Science Advisor Center for Public Health and Environmental Assessment U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Research Triangle Park, NC

Jennifer Johnson, Ed.D. Deputy Commissioner Administration on Disabilities Administration for Community Living Washington, DC

Walter J. Koroshetz, M.D. Director National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke National Institutes of Health Bethesda, MD Leah Lozier, Ph.D. Social Science Analyst Office of Policy Development and Research U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Washington, DC

Alison R. Marvin, Ph.D. Statistician/Health Sciences Researcher Division of the Analytics Center of Excellence Social Security Administration Woodlawn, MD

Matthew Miller, Ph.D., M.P.H. Director VA Suicide Prevention Program Office of Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Veterans Health Administration U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs Washington, DC

Kamila Mistry, Ph.D., M.P.H. Health Scientist Administrator Associate Director Office of Extramural Research, Education, and Priority Populations Senior Advisor Value Based Care Transformation Child Health and Quality Improvement Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Rockville, MD

Lauren Raskin Ramos, M.P.H. Director Division of Maternal and Child Health Workforce Development Maternal and Child Health Bureau Health Resources and Services Administration Rockville, MD

Karyl Rattay, M.D., M.S. Director Division of Human Development and Disability National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Atlanta, GA 30341 Jodie Sumeracki, B.A. Senior Policy Advisor Disabled and Elderly Health Programs Group Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Baltimore, MD

Lawrence A. Tabak, D.D.S, Ph.D. Acting Director National Institutes of Health Bethesda, MD

Debara L. Tucci, M.D., M.S., M.B.A., F.A.C.S. Director National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders National Institutes of Health Bethesda, MD

Larry Wexler, Ed.D. Director Research to Practice Division Office of Special Education Programs U.S. Department of Education Washington, DC

Nicole Williams, Ph.D. Program Manager Congressionally Directed Medical Research Programs U.S. Department of Defense Frederick, MD

Taryn Mackenzie Williams, M.A. Assistant Secretary Office of Disability Employment Policy U.S. Department of Labor Washington, DC

Richard Woychik, Ph.D. Director National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences Director National Toxicology Program National Institutes of Health Research Triangle Park, NC

PUBLIC MEMBERS

Maria Mercedes Avila, Ph.D., M.S.W., M.Ed. Associate Professor Department of Pediatrics Director Vermont LEND Program Larner College of Medicine University of Vermont Burlington, VT

Alice Carter, Ph.D. Professor Department of Psychology University of Massachusetts Boston Boston, MA

Sam Crane, J.D. Legal Director Quality Trust for Individuals with Disabilities Washington, DC

Aisha Dickerson, Ph.D. Assistant Professor Department of Epidemiology Bloomberg School of Public Health Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, MD

Dena Gassner, M.S.W. Ph.D. Candidate in Social Work Adelphi University West Hempstead, NY Adjunct Professor Department of Health Sciences Towson University Towson, MD

Morénike Giwa Onaiwu, M.A. Equity, Justice, and Representation Executive Committee Chair Autistic Women & Nonbinary Network Humanities Scholar Center for the Study of Women, Gender, and Sexuality Rice University Houston, TX Alycia Halladay, Ph.D. Chief Science Officer Autism Science Foundation New York, NY Adjunct Faculty Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology Rutgers University Piscataway, NJ

Craig Johnson, M.Ed. Founder and President Champions Foundation Houston, TX

Yetta Myrick, B.A. Founder and President DC Autism Parents Washington, DC

Lindsey Nebeker, B.A. Marketing Consultant Independent Contractor Alexandria, VA

Jenny Mai Phan, Ph.D. Research Post-Doctoral Fellow Center for Neuroscience Research Center for Autism Spectrum Disorders Children's National Hospital Washington, DC

Joseph Piven, M.D. Thomas E. Castelloe Distinguished Professor of Psychiatry and Pediatrics Director University Center of Excellence in Developmental Disabilities (UCEDD) University of North Carolina - Chapel Hill Chapel Hill, NC

JaLynn R. Prince, B.F.A. Co-Founder, President, and Chair Madison House Autism Foundation Rockville, MD Susan Rivera, Ph.D. Dean College of Behavioral & Social Sciences Professor Department of Psychology University of Maryland College Park, MD

Matthew Siegel, M.D. Associate Professor of Psychiatry and Pediatrics Tufts University School of Medicine Boston, MA Vice President of Medical Affairs Developmental Disorders Service Line Maine Behavioral Healthcare Westbrook, ME

Ivanova Smith, B.A. Self-Advocate Faculty Leadership Education in Neurodevelopmental and Related Disabilities University of Washington Tacoma, WA

Hari Srinivasan, B.A. Student Paul and Daisy Soros Fellow Vanderbilt University Albany, CA Helen Tager-Flusberg, Ph.D. Professor Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences Director Center for Autism Research Excellence Boston University Boston, MA

Julie Lounds Taylor, Ph.D. Associate Professor Department of Pediatrics Co-Director University Center for Excellence in Developmental Disabilities Vanderbilt Kennedy Center Vanderbilt University Medical Center Nashville, TN

Paul Wang, M.D. Deputy Director Clinical Research Associates, LLC Simons Foundation New York, NY Associate Clinical Professor of Pediatrics Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, CT



6001 Executive Boulevard, Suite 6129, Bethesda, MD 20892 National Institute of Mental Health National Institutes of Health Email: IACCPublicInquiries@mail.nih.gov Website: http://www.iacc.hhs.gov

OFFICE OF NATIONAL AUTISM COORDINATION STAFF

Susan A. Daniels, Ph.D. National Autism Coordinator, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Director, Office of National Autism Coordination, National Institute of Mental Health Executive Secretary, IACC

Oni Celestin, Ph.D.* Health Science Policy Analyst

Public Health Analyst

Katrina Ferrara, Ph.D.* Health Science Policy Analyst

Steven Isaacson, L.M.S.W. Autism Policy Analyst

Tianlu Ma, Ph.D.* Health Science Policy Analyst Angelice Mitrakas, B.A.* Management Analyst

Rebecca Martin, M.P.H.*

Luis Valdez-Lopez, M.P.H. Health Science Policy Analyst

Jeffrey Wiegand, B.S.* Web Development and Digital Outreach Manager

*Also a staff member of the Office of Autism Research Coordination (OARC), within the Office of National Autism Coordination (ONAC)



OFFICE OF **MATIONAL AUTISM** COORDINATION NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH

